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Strategically Placed
To Oﬀer you MORE

A strategy is a
combination of
an origin, a destination,
and a route to get from
origin to destination.
Pearl Zhu, CIO Master: Unleash the Digital Potential of It

OUR VISION
To be your Bank of choice and financial partner for life.

OUR MISSION
To create value for our stakeholders.

OUR MANTRA
Get It Right the First Time, Every Time.

STRATEGIC INTENT
Our strategic intent is Operational Efficiency.

CULTURAL PILLARS
The operations of the Bank have been built on the pillars of Customer Intimacy and
Service Excellence. These pillars will distinguish ECAB as the Bank of choice and
financial partner for life.

OUR VALUE STATEMENTS
Honesty and integrity are the overriding guiding principles.
All employees are regarded as critical to the success of the institution. The proficiency,
expertise, knowledge and vision of everyone are highly valued and mutual respect
and trust are greatly emphasized.
All customers are regarded as critical to the success of the institution. Bank staff
is therefore very customer-focused, responsive and driven to exceed customers’
expectations.
The reputation of the Bank and the integrity, sincerity and transparency that staff
demonstrate every day are held in the highest regard.
Continuous learning is valued, reinforced by a commitment of the staff to listen to
customers and to each other in order to institutionalize the discipline, processes and
methodologies that offer the greatest reliability and quality of banking services.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

NOTICE is hereby given that the Sixth Annual General Meeting of the Eastern Caribbean
Amalgamated Bank Limited will be held on Friday, the 26th day of May, 2017 at its head office
located at 1000 Airport Boulevard, Coolidge, in the parish of St. George’s, in Antigua and Barbuda
commencing at 5:30 p.m. in the Board Room.

AGENDA
1. Call to Order
2. Prayers
3. Adoption of Agenda
4. Revision of Minutes of Fifth Annual General Meeting held on February 26, 2016
5. Matters Arising from Minutes of Fifth Annual General Meeting held on February 26, 2016
6. Chairman’s Report
7. Directors’ Report
8. Auditors’ Report and Financial Statements for the year ended September 30, 2016
9. Approval of Dividend
10. Appointment of Auditors
11. Election of Directors and Confirmation of Remuneration
12. Any other Business
Dated the 4th day of May, 2017

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Tracy Benn-Roberts
Corporate Secretary
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Chairman’s Report
During the course of the financial year ended
September 30, 2016, more specifically on October
18, 2015, the Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated
Bank Limited (ECAB) commemorated a significant
milestone - our 5th Anniversary. Having now
achieved six years of sustained growth, ECAB
continues to be strategically positioned to offer
and deliver much more to our valued customers
and other stakeholders.

ECONOMIC OVERVIEW
Antigua and Barbuda’s economy is estimated to
have expanded by 4.3 per cent in 2016, which
represented a modest increase from the 3.8 per
cent growth rate realized in 2015. The tourism
sector continues to be the major contributor
to the Gross Domestic Product with a 14.7 per
cent share followed closely by wholesale and
retail trades and the real estate sectors which
were tied at 14.4 per cent share each. Value
added in the tourism industry is estimated to
have increased by 6.4 per cent influenced by
a stable global economy, greater marketing
of the destination and increased airlift with
additional flights from new carriers. The number
of stay-over visitors increased by 5.9 per cent
in 2016, a significant improvement to the 0.5
per cent growth recorded in 2015. An increase
in stay-over visitors from the European market,
notably Italy which experienced a 22.3 per cent
increase following the commencement of a
nonstop charter Alitalia service, was tempered
by a softening of the UK market, the second
largest source market behind the USA. The
depreciation in the British Pound as a result of
Brexit contributed to a 1.8 per cent decline in UK
stay-over visitors as leisure trips to Antigua and
Barbuda from Britain became more expensive.

An upturn in construction activity in the
public sector and private sector including
the government and private sector housing
projects, road works, Citizenship by Investment
related construction projects and the port
re-development project will also serve as a
stimulus of growth overall. These are likely to
have positive spillover effects on the wholesale,
retail, services and transport sectors.
Global growth is projected to increase from
an estimated 3.1 per cent in 2016 to 3.5
per cent in 2017 based on the International
Monetary Fund’s April 2017 edition of its World
Economic Outlook report. An upward revision
in projections for advanced economies such as
the United States, reflected an anticipated fiscal
policy easing of the new administration and a
growth in stakeholder confidence.
The 2017 growth forecasts have been
marked upward for China, reflecting a robust
expansionary fiscal policy stance. Growth in
these two countries bodes well for Antigua’s
economy given the role of the US - Antigua’s
largest source market for tourists, and China –
an important development partner in respect
of providing funding for some Government
projects through the China EXIM Bank including
the proposed re-development of the port in St.
John’s.

The Eastern Caribbean Central Bank’s (ECCB)
forecast of economic growth for 2017 stands
at 3.2 per cent which is more conservative
than the Government’s estimate of 5 per cent.
This growth rate will be spurred by continued
developments in the tourism sector as marketing
and promotional initiatives continue.

5

The Bank’s liquidity, as reflected in its Loans
to Deposits ratio, strengthened further from
its September 30, 2015 position where the
ratio stood at 78.4 per cent to 74.4 per cent
at September 30, 2016, well within ECCB’s
prudential limit of 85 per cent. The Bank’s
capital adequacy ratio, a symbol of its strength
and safety, far exceeded ECCB’s statutory
minimum of 8.0 per cent and stood at 47 per
cent as at September 30, 2016.

OUR PERFORMANCE
Prior to the purchase and assumption of certain
assets and liabilities from the former ABI Bank
Limited (ABI P&A), ECAB had already set itself
on a path to achieving its growth targets in
earnings and assets for the financial year ended
September 30, 2016. The ABI P&A brought the
bank significant growth in income and assets
which further eclipsed our original targets.
Ultimately, with this transaction ECAB has
been able to fast-track achievement of some
medium-to-long-term growth targets. However,
ECAB does not view these achievements as an
early arrival at our destination, but rather as an
extension of our journey which immediately sets
out higher and harder targets to be achieved,
supported by the recent accelerated growth and
strengthening of our Bank.

A HISTORIC EVENT
The financial year ending September 30, 2016 has
been a watershed year in the history of ECAB and
the Eastern Caribbean Currency Union (ECCU).
For the second time within six years, ECAB has
successfully purchased and acquired certain
assets and liabilities of another bank. In 2010,
ECAB was established to purchase and assume
certain assets and liabilities of the former Bank
of Antigua Limited. Fast-forward to November
2015, ECAB has successfully participated in the
resolution of the ABI Bank Limited, which had
been under the conservatorship of the ECCB,
through our purchase and assumption of certain
assets and liabilities.

For financial year ended September 30, 2016,
net income almost doubled, increasing by 76
per cent from $6.8M in 2015 to $12.1M in 2016.
In a similar vein, whereas we assumed $265M
in assets from the former ABI Bank Limited,
total assets increased by a larger increment of
$298.6M or 58.9 per cent from $507.2M in 2015
to $805.8M in 2016. This resulted in our market
share, which dipped slightly in 2015 to 8.8 per
cent, regaining lost ground and climbing to 13.6
per cent in 2016.

The fact that the various stakeholders in these
resolution processes, including the Government
of Antigua and Barbuda and the ECCB, identified
ECAB as the most suitable vehicle to undertake
these acquisitions, testifies of the faith and trust
that these entities have in Our Future and Our
Bank. It speaks to the track record of ECAB,
driven by a competent and skilled team of
Management and Staff. The successful purchase
and assumption, including transitioning and
integration of branches, operations, customers
and systems in the short time taken is no small
feat as demonstrated by the difficulties still
being experienced by other banking mergers in
our country and region.

Whereas we assumed $213.5M in loans and
advances via the ABI P&A, our total loans
and advances increased by a net amount of
$178.9M or 56.2 per cent from $318.2M in
2015 to $497.1M in 2016 due to a reduction in
Government debt pursuant to the transaction.
This translates to an increased market share
from 12.7 per cent in 2015 to 20.3 per cent in
2016.
Notwithstanding the benefits we gained from
the ABI P&A, ECAB continues to hold its own in
what the ECCB still refers to as an “overbanked”
market.
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Since the acquisition as at November 27, 2015,
there are positive signs that ECAB has been
able to leverage this event to its benefit, not
just in terms of the substantial increase in its
asset base and profits, but from the perspective
of its perception in the market as a model
financial institution, held in high esteem by
all stakeholders. This perception has been
bolstered by the fact that the integration of the
systems of the former ABI Bank Limited into
ECAB’s has been flawless, with no interruption
of service, and the assimilation of the customers
of the former ABI Bank Limited into the ECAB
family has been smooth. Undoubtedly, ECAB
represents the best of us and has played a
pivotal role in safeguarding the financial stability
of the Eastern Caribbean Currency Union.

commercial lending portfolio.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
With the successful completion of the ABI P&A
integration activities during the 2016 financial
year, we especially want to express our sincere
gratitude to all management and staff for
fully embracing the purchase and assumption
project. The Board of Directors is convinced that
the purchase and assumption of these assets
and liabilities will redound to the benefit of all
staff and by extension all our customers and
stakeholders.
To our new customers, we say a special “Thank
You” for not just coming on board but for staying
with us. We promise you that your journey
with us will be one that will safely transport
you to your financial destination and grant you
newfound prosperity.

OUR STRATEGY GOING FORWARD
ECAB continually strives to be the vanguard
in providing technological solutions to our
customers’ banking experience. In pursuit of this
goal we will be launching our much anticipated
superior online banking service, MOREBanking,
in May 2017, which will replace the Netteller
platform.

Surely, we cannot forget our legacy customers
who have been faithful and loyal to ECAB.
We assure you that your fidelity has not gone
un-noticed and that it will continue to be
rewarded through value.

The impetus behind this initiative is to
keep pace with industry trends by offering
technology-based banking solutions to improve
customer convenience by bringing banking
closer to our customers’ fingertips and in a
mode more suited to their changing lifestyles.
MOREBanking will bring enhanced functionality,
flexibility, convenience, security and satisfaction
to our customers, putting them at the forefront
of banking technology.

Again, the Board of Directors wishes to thank
management, staff, customers, shareholders and
other stakeholders for your efforts and support
during the past year and we look forward to
working with you in future years as we continue
to build Our Future, Our Bank.

In order to enhance our capacity to provide
improved service to our customers, we have
also embarked on a restructuring exercise
aimed at improving institutional effectiveness
and efficiencies.

Craig J. Walter
Chairman
Board of Directors

We continue to review and re-engineer our
internal processes to improve operational
efficiency with special emphasis being placed
on the Lending department to reduce loan
turn-around times and continue to grow our
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Board of Directors
Esterlita Cumberbatch
East Caribbean Financial
Holding Company Limited

Paul Moses

National Bank of Dominica Limited

Craig Walter

Antigua Commercial
Bank Limited
Chairman

Rasona Davis-Crump

Howard McEachrane
St.Kitts Nevis Anguilla
National Bank Limited

C. Davidson Charles

Antigua Commercial Bank Limited

Government of Antigua and Barbuda
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Directors’ Report
The Board of Directors of the Eastern Caribbean
Amalgamated Bank Limited (ECAB), over the
past six (6) years of operation, has comprised of
individuals with varied educational backgrounds
and diverse experiences in banking and
other industries. These individuals have also
brought to the table a rich appreciation of
corporate governance principles and a high
and concentrated knowledge base of customer
satisfaction values from a range of territories
across the region. This unique blend of
individuals, through diligence and commitment,
has successfully safeguarded the continued
sustainability of a strong risk management
culture, a reliable system of accountability
and transparency, a solid structure of financial
integrity and the maintenance of stakeholder
trust and confidence.

BOARD COMPOSITION
The requirement for the composition of the
Board is found in Clause 4.2 of the By-Laws of
ECAB which provide for a minimum of seven
(7) directors and a maximum of eleven (11)
directors. At present, the Board comprises of
seven (7) non-executive directors who represent
the six (6) shareholders of ECAB (as shown in
the below table).

The Board of Directors, its composition,
functioning, sub-committees and all other
matters related thereto are governed by the
By-Laws of ECAB, the Banking Act 2015 and/
or any other valid regulatory provisions in
operation.

NAME OF DIRECTORS

SHAREHOLDERS

NUMBER OF ORDINARY SHARES OWNED

Craig Walter and C. Davidson Charles

Antigua Commercial Bank Ltd.

37, 200

Derry Williams

Bank of St. Vincent and the Grenadines Ltd.

19, 200

Howard McEachrane

St. Kitts Nevis Anguilla National Bank Ltd.

38, 400

Esther Brown-Weekes
(replaced by Estherlita Cumberbatch)

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company
Ltd.

48, 000

Paul Moses

National Bank of Dominica Ltd.

37, 200

Rasona Davis-Crump

Government of Antigua and Barbuda

60, 000
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Notes
1. Director Gladston Joseph represented Antigua
Commercial Bank Limited on the Board
of Directors until his retirement effective
September 30, 2015. Director C. Davidson
Charles replaced Director Joseph effective
October 1, 2015.
2. Director Esther Brown-Weekes represented
East Caribbean Financial Holding Company
Limited until the appointment of Director
Estherlita Cumberbatch effective June 1,
2016.
3. The Government of Antigua and Barbuda
also owns 100,000 preference shares.
4. Directors do not personally own shares in
ECAB.

FUNCTIONS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The main function of the Board of Directors is to
provide oversight and direction to management
in an effective and efficient manner for the
continued smooth operation of ECAB.
The
directions of the Board for the institution and
to management are communicated through
the General Manager whose task is to oversee
implementation.
Management
has
the
responsibility for the day to day running and
operation of ECAB.
The Board’s role also includes the safeguarding
of the assets and the interests of its shareholders
and ensuring the sustainability, development
and profitability of the institution. As part of
its responsibilities, the Board also ensures that
there is transparency, diligent reporting and
disclosure of financial information. The Board
further regularly reviews and approves policies,
budgets, strategies and operating plans for ECAB.
Additionally, the Board oversees the strategic
direction of ECAB through its participation with
management in a session dedicated to strategic
planning. The Board furthermore promotes the
highest standards of ethical behaviour and risk
management throughout ECAB.

In exercising its overall functions, the Board
consistently adheres to the By-Laws and all
relevant legislations and regulations in effect.
Going forward, the Board intends to continue its
focus on furthering the growth of the asset base
and profitability of ECAB and making decisions
that are in the best interest and welfare of all of
its stakeholders.

BOARD SUB-COMMITTEES
The Board of Directors believes that in order to
serve the interest of all stakeholders, the Board
must continuously work towards improving the
corporate governance system of ECAB. The four
(4) sub-committees identified below therefore
meet as and when required and function to
provide enhanced oversight over the affairs of
ECAB in between the regular board meetings.
The Committees report to the Board on a
monthly basis.
As part of their function, the Committees regularly
review reports and consider recommendations
submitted by management. The Committees
also meet with management to understand
its plans and policies and the likely impact of
decisions on the day to day operations of ECAB.
The Committees ensure that they receive the
necessary assurances that management has
complied with the applicable risk management
framework and the internal structures in place.
The Committees are comprised as follows:
1. Credit Committee – Directors C. Davidson
Charles (Chairman), Craig Walter, Derry
Williams, Esther Brown Weekes (replaced
by Estherlita Cumberbatch in June 2015),
Paul Moses, Rasona Davis-Crump, Howard
McEachrane;
2. Human Resource Committee – Directors
Derry Williams (Chairman), C. Davidson
Charles and Rasona Davis-Crump;
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3. Audit & Risk Committee – Directors
Esther Brown-Weekes (Chairman until June
2016), Paul Moses and Rasona Davis-Crump
(current Chairman), Howard McEachrane and
Estherlita Cumberbatch;
4. Corporate Governance Committee –
Directors Craig Walter (Chairman), Derry
Williams (as of May 2016), Rasona DavisCrump (replaced by C. Davidson Charles in
May 2016) and Howard McEachrane.

THE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD
Clause 11 of the By-Laws provide that “the
directors shall as often as may be required”
appoint a Chairman and a Deputy Chairman.
The By-Laws also provide that “the Chairman
shall, when present, preside at all meetings of
the directors and any committee of the directors
or the shareholders” and that “if the Chairman is
absent or is unable or refuses to act, the Deputy
Chairman shall, when present, preside at all
meetings of the directors and any committee of
the directors or the shareholders”.
The Chairman of the Board is responsible for the
proper leadership, management, development
and effective functioning of the Board. The
Chairman also has a duty to ensure that the
Board independently performs its responsibilities
and that it has all the information required to
make informed decisions and fulfil its mandate.
The Chairman further promotes the highest
standard of integrity and conduct within the
Board at all times.
During the financial year ended September 2016,
Director Craig Walter held the office of Chairman
of the Board of Directors. Director Esther BrownWeekes held the position of Deputy Chairman
until June 2016 when Director Derry Williams
was elected as the replacement.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCES
The Board of Directors normally meets once per
month and additionally when required. During the
financial year ended September 30, 2016, there
were twelve (12) Board of Directors meetings.
The following table records the attendance of the
Directors:

DIRECTORS

ATTENDANCE

PERCENTAGE

(IN ORDER OF
TENURE)

Required

Actual

Craig Walter

12

12

100%

Derry Williams

12

11

92%

Esther Brown-Weekes

8

7

88%

Paul Moses

12

12

100%

Rasona Davis-Crump

12

8

67%

Howard McEachrane

12

9

75%

C. Davidson Charles

12

11

92%

Estherlita Cumberbatch

4

3

75%

DIRECTORS’ TENURE
In accordance with Clause 4.4 of the By-Laws
of ECAB:
“Unless his tenure is sooner determined, a
director shall hold office from the date from
which he is elected or appointed until the close
of the annual meeting of the shareholders next
following but shall be eligible for re-election if
qualified.”

DIRECTORS’ RENUMERATION

EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The remuneration of directors are determined
from time to time by the board of directors
and approved by shareholders. Directors are
also entitled to be paid their travelling and
other expenses properly incurred by them in
connection with the affairs of the Company.

The External Auditors, Grant Thornton, retired
at the financial year ended September 30, 2016.
The Auditors are eligible for re-appointment and
have offered themselves for re-appointment for
the year ended September 30, 2017. The Board
of Directors recommend their re-appointment.

VOTING BY SHAREHOLDERS

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Clause 12.6 of the By-Laws of ECAB provides that
shareholders shall vote at the election “in the
first instance by a show of hands unless a person
entitled to vote at the meeting has demanded a
ballot”. Accordingly, each shareholder or proxy
holder or individual authorized to represent
a shareholder is entitled to one vote at every
meeting at which he/she is entitled to vote
(Clause 12.6.1 of the By-Laws of ECAB).

DIVIDEND
In accordance with Clause 15 of the By-Laws of
ECAB, “the directors may from time to time by
resolution declare and the Company may pay
dividends on the issued and outstanding shares
of the capital of the Company…”.
For the financial year ended September 30,
2016, the Board of Directors recommends the
payment of dividends of $5.50 for each unit of
common share to shareholders on record as at
May 22, 2017 and dividend payment of 3.5% of
the par value to the preferred shareholder on
record as at May 22, 2017.
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Tracy Benn-Roberts
Corporate Secretary

Executive Management
Esterlita Cumberbatch
East Caribbean Financial
Holding Company Limited

Paul Moses

National Bank of Dominica Limited

Craig Walter

Antigua Commercial
Bank Limited
Chairman

Rasona Davis-Crump

Howard McEachrane
St.Kitts Nevis Anguilla
National Bank Limited

C. Davidson Charles

Antigua Commercial Bank Limited

Government of Antigua and Barbuda
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Management’s Discussion and
Analysis
source markets.
The construction sector is
estimated to have expanded by 12.0 per cent
in 2016 compared to growth of 4.0 per cent in
2015. Continued work on several hotel projects
and CIP funded developments along with several
public sector projects, such as the Government
Affordable Housing Development, repairs and
upgrades to Government facilities and the
dredging of the St. John’s harbor contributed to
the expansion in the construction sector.
The ECCU economy continued to recover with
economic activity estimated to have expanded
by 2.2 per cent in 2016. Global economic
activity was subdued and growth is estimated
at 3.1 percent for 2016.

2016 ECONOMIC AND BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT
Pursuant to our underlying strategy of growth
and amalgamation, and with the full support of
the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank (ECCB) and
the Government of Antigua and Barbuda, on
November 29, 2015, our Bank purchased assets
valued at $265M and assumed liabilities valued
at $257M from the former ABI Bank Limited.
This acquisition has enhanced the financial base
of the Bank, provided two additional convenient
locations to better serve our customers and
created additional jobs.
Data from the ECCB indicated that in 2016,
Antigua and Barbuda had the largest economy
in the Eastern Caribbean Currency Union (ECCU)
and economic activity is estimated to have
expanded by 4.3 per cent. This was driven by
developments in the tourism and construction
sectors. In 2016, stay-over arrivals increased
by 5.9 per cent to 265,187 with increases in
visitor arrivals from the USA and other major

Excess liquidity in the banking system remained
elevated as the demand for private sector credit
was relatively low. Non-Performing Loans (NPLs)
in Antigua and Barbuda’s banking system was
9.2 per cent in 2016; although on the decline, it
remained above the ECCB prudential maximum
of 5 per cent.

PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS
The Bank delivered a strong performance for
fiscal year ended September 30, 2016 with
reported net profit after tax of $12.1 million; an
increase of 76 per cent in comparison to the 2015
result of $6.8 million which was non-taxable due
to concessions received from the Government of
Antigua and Barbuda. Our performance in 2016
was largely influenced by the increase in the
loans and advances base subsequent to the ABI
integration and continued strategic measures
aimed at reducing cost of funds along with the
reduction in the minimum savings rate from 3.0
per cent to 2.0 per cent in May 2015.
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In addition, yield on interest earning assets
increased to 7.6 per cent for 2016 from 7.2 per
cent for 2015.

Highlights of Financial Operations
(In Thousands of Dollars)
For the year

2016

2015

2014

2013

2012

Interest Income

44,011

30,730

30,317

31,721

31,170

Interest Expense

12,839

10,578

11,738

13,740

13,300

Loan Impairment Charges

1,020

413

321

946

939

Net Fee Income

7,383

5,400

4,626

4,840

4,227

Operating Expenses

23,241

18,385

16,758

16,384

16,756

Net Income

12,071

6,839

6,158

5,507

4,369

Yield on Interest Earning Assets

7.6%

7.2%

7.3%

7.4%

8.2%

Cost of Funds

2.0%

2.5%

2.9%

3.0%

3.6%

Spread

5.6%

4.7%

4.4%

4.4%

4.6%

61.4%

72.1%

71.9%

74.8%

79.3%

2013

2012

Efficiency Ratio

At year end

2016

2015

2014

Loans & Advances

497,084

318,198

306,379

309,770

309,080

Investments

143,734

120,701

117,857

121,650

86,829

Total Assets

805,778

507,221

513,082

506,476

487,233

Total Deposits

667,735

405,809

414,160

416,381

396,256

Total Shareholders’ Equity

106,097

93,489

86,650

80,493

74,986

Return on Assets

1.7%

1.3%

1.3%

1.1%

1.0%

Return on Equity

12.1%

7.6%

7.4%

7.1%

6.0%

47%

56%

56%

53%

52%

Capital Adequacy Ratio

INTEREST EXPENSE
Despite growth in average customer deposits
by $198.5 million or 47.8 per cent to $613.4
million in 2016 from $414.9 million in 2015,
interest expense only increased by $2.3 million
or 21.4 per cent due to careful management of
the funding base. Cost of funds dropped to 2.0
per cent for 2016 from 2.5 per cent for 2015
along with shifts in customer deposits matrix.

LOAN IMPAIRMENT CHARGES
Delinquency is closely monitored resulting in
continued improvement in the NPL ratio which
stood at 4.57 per cent at the close of 2016
from 6.8 percent at the end of 2015 and below
the ECCB prudential maximum of 5.0 per cent.
However, loan impairment charges increased by
$0.6 million to $1.0 million for 2016 compared
to 2015. This was due to a change in the
method of calculation for loan loss provisioning
pertaining to the time and cost to collect the
NPLs.

NET FEE INCOME
Net fee income increased by $2.0 million or
36.7 per cent to $7.4 million in 2016 compared
to 2015. This increase was mainly driven by
increases in gains from foreign exchange
transactions and from account service charge.

INTEREST INCOME

OPERATING EXPENSES

Interest income increased by $13.3 million
or 43.2 per cent to $44.0 million for 2016
compared to 2015. Average loans and advances
increased by $148.7 million to $455.0 million
for 2016 compared to $306.3 million for 2015.

Operating expenses increased by $4.9 million
or 26.4 per cent to $23.2 million for 2016
compared to 2015 primarily driven by increases
of $2.5 million in personnel expenses and $2.8
million in general and administrative expenses
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partly off-set by a reduction of $0.4 million in
amortization of intangible assets. The increasein
staff complement coupled with a 2.5 per cent
salary increase were the primary contributors
to the increase in personnel expenses. The
increase in administration costs was driven
by an increase in rental cost as a result of the
acquisition of two new locations and other
associated costs.

CUSTOMER DEPOSITS
Customer deposits increased by $261.9M or
64.5 per cent to $667.7 million at the end of
the 2016 fiscal. This was mainly attributed to
the ABI transaction and to growth within the
portfolio of approximately $44.6 million.
Liquidity remained strong during the 2016
fiscal and ensured the Bank’s ability to meet all
expected and unexpected financial obligations.

ASSETS
Total assets grew by $298.6 million or 58.9 per
cent to $805.8 million compared to 2015 largely
due to assets purchased from the former ABI
Bank and to net growth in loans and advances
portfolio of approximately $25.2 million.

Looking ahead, we will continue to seek ways
to optimize profits while at the same time
providing superior customer service.
Focus
will be placed on continued growth in loans and
advances and investments along with improving
the delinquency and efficiency ratios and in the
monitoring and managing of all types of risks.
We will also undertake a review of our
organisational structure to enhance our service
delivery and efficiency levels.

Michael Spencer
General Manager
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Management
Esterlita Cumberbatch
East Caribbean Financial
Holding Company Limited

Paul Moses

National Bank of Dominica Limited

Craig Walter

Antigua Commercial
Bank Limited
Chairman

Rasona Davis-Crump

Howard McEachrane
St.Kitts Nevis Anguilla
National Bank Limited

C. Davidson Charles

Derry Williams

Bank of St. Vincent &
the Grenadines Limited

Antigua Commercial Bank Limited

Government of Antigua and Barbuda
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Strategically Placed to Offer
you MORE
In the final months of 2015 and entering into
2016, the Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated
Bank Limited (ECAB) embarked on a momentous
undertaking that would not only affect the Bank,
but would permanently change the landscape
of the banking sector in Antigua and Barbuda.
This undertaking was the acquisition of certain
assets and liabilities of the former ABI Bank
Limited. This represented a challenge that
would test the organization’s ability to adapt
to change and smoothly navigate through a
difficult period fraught with complex challenges.
All persons involved in the transition were
asked to go beyond the call of duty to ensure
the smooth completion of the process; all with
customer satisfaction at the forefront.

Over the years, we have recognized that the
market in which we operate is ever changing,
and as such we aim to be the best with regards
to innovation, positioning and a commitment
to customer service. It was with this in mind
that the ECAB family embraced the integration
knowing that the benefits gained would add to
our existing competitive advantage and further
cement the Bank’s position as a leader in the
financial services sector in Antigua and Barbuda
and across the region. The sound path which we
have forged since ECAB’s birth has put us in the
position to face the future with confidence and
enables us to offer our customers, shareholders
and staff MORE ...

Convenience
ECAB now boasts the most branch and
ATM locations on the island, with four
(4) branch locations, nine (9) ATM
locations and thirteen (13) ATMs. This,
along with our unmatched three (3)
lane drive through banking service,
offer our customers unparalleled
convenience and access to banking.
With more locations and access points
in the major business districts and
shopping centers, we make accessing
your funds easier. Furthermore, the
imminent launch of our MOREBanking
service will bring cutting edge mobile
technology to the fingertips of our
customers, allowing them to conduct
banking in real-time from anywhere
with an internet connection.
Drive Through Banking: One of the convenient services
that we offer to make your banking experience more
pleasurable.
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More Customer Service
The ECAB staff bring a wealth of banking knowledge to the table and along with impeccable
interpersonal skills, create a customer experience that is intimate and memorable whether faceto-face, via telephone, social media or email correspondence. At ECAB, we go the extra mile to
ensure that you are satisfied. We believe in developing mutually beneficial relationships with
every customer, every time.

Customers are greeted with a smile on entry and staff go the extra mile to ensure that you
are satisfied.

More Staff Commitment
Our most important capital is our human capital. We firmly believe in investing in our staff as we
recognize their importance to our success. This year, we implemented several new programs to
foster the overall development of our staff as well as continued programs from previous years.
These include a variety of staff training sessions in areas that would increase their knowledge base
and equip them for their jobs. Staff members were also sent on specialized accredited courses
while others benefited from our educational assistance program.
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In 2016, as part of the Bank’s initiative to foster the wealth of creative talent that staff possess,
the first annual ECAB staff talent competition was held. The event was an evening of entertainment
that thrilled the audience and brought laughter and even tears of joy to the faces of many.
Our annual staff function and awards ceremony was held at the Sandals Grande Resort under
the theme “Glamour Elegance and Fun, a night on Mount Olympus”. Staff were recognized for
their work during the year as persons celebrated the Bank’s accomplishments for 2016 dressed in
theme as Greek gods and goddesses.

Dynamic Musical Duo

IS and Facilities Talent Group

Staff Choice Award Winner
Louran Thomas

Best Dressed Male
Leslie Hamlet
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Staff Deposit Incentive Winner
Mark Samuel

More Giving
As one of the island’s largest financial
institutions, we take our commitment to
corporate social responsibility very seriously.
Apart from our usual response to requests
for donations from NGOs and charitable
organizations, our focus in 2016 was on
youth and cultural development.
To this end, ECAB was once again the title
sponsor of the 2nd Annual Junior Soca
Monarch Competition which was a part of
Antigua’s 2016 Carnival celebrations. This
event showcased the talents of young,
upcoming Soca artists giving them an avenue
to explore their talent and perhaps launch
their professional singing careers.

Junior Soca Monarch Competition, Antigua
Carnival 2016

Another major activity of note was our
sponsorship of the Rotaract Spelling Bee.
This event brought together young spellers
from the primary schools around the island,
over two weekends, to test their wits and
spelling acumen. The winner received a
variety of prizes to include an ECAB Smart
Start savings account in the amount of
EC$1,500.00.

Swalings Beach Football Tournament

Rotaract Spelling Bee

National Tennis Center Donation
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JCI Mathlete 2016

Irene B. Williams Graduation 2016

More Opportunities
We are confident that we have the human and
technological resources to provide present and
future customers with “More Opportunities” to meet
their banking needs and realize their dreams. We are
also very certain that we can enhance and exceed
all banking expectations once given the opportunity.
So, come in today...we are waiting to welcome you!

Our doors are wide open
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Grant Thornton
11 Old Parham Road
P.O. Box 1531
St. John’s, Antigua
West Indies

To the Shareholders of
Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited

T +1 268 462 3000
F +1 268 462 1902
www.grantthornton.ag

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited, which comprise
the statement of financial position as of September 30, 2016 and the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and
cash flows for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Eastern Caribbean
Amalgamated Bank Limited as of September 30, 2016 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Accountants
[May
] 22, 2017
St. John’s, Antigua
Partners:
Antigua
Charles Walwyn - Managing Partner
Robert Wilkinson
Kathy David
St. Kitts
Jefferson Hunte
Audit • Tax • Advisory
Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd
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Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited
Statement of Financial Position
As of September 30, 2016

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
Notes

2016
$

2015
$

94,437,213
47,962,751
143,733,867
497,084,474
1,636,118
18,892,994
2,030,722

34,862,361
13,298,512
120,700,813
318,197,622
1,234,700
17,186,716
1,740,600

805,778,139

507,221,324

667,734,849
28,185,614
1,025,709
1,861,447
873,702

405,808,591
5,267,568
2,655,706
−
−

699,681,321

413,731,865

47,869,339
24,000,000
536,648
10,493,633
23,197,198

47,869,339
24,000,000
−
8,471,841
13,148,279

Total equity

106,096,818

93,489,459

Total liabilities and equity

805,778,139

507,221,324

Assets
8
9
10
11
12
13
15

Cash and balances with the Central Bank
Due from banks and other financial institutions
Investment securities
Loans and advances to customers
Other assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

Total assets

Liabilities
16
17
18
31
31

Customers’ deposits
Other liabilities and accrued expenses
Borrowings
Income taxes payable
Deferred tax liability

Total liabilities

Equity
19
19
21
21

Preference shares
Common shares
Revaluation reserve
Other reserves
Retained earnings

The notes on pages 31 to 97 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Approved by the Board of Directors on May 22, 2017

_____________________________________ Director

___________________________________ Director
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Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited
Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended September 30, 2016
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
Notes

Operating income

2016
$

2015
$

Interest income
Interest expense

26
26

44,011,290
(12,838,522)

30,729,749
(10,577,799)

Net interest income
Loan impairment charges

11

31,172,768
(1,019,661)

20,151,950
(412,513)

30,153,107

19,739,437

13,977,144
(6,593,976)

9,046,323
(3,646,160)

7,383,168

5,400,163

331,633

85,157

37,867,908

25,224,757

12,328,756
8,982,292
555,242
1,374,641

9,814,399
6,191,695
994,767
1,384,501

Total operating expenses

23,240,931

18,385,362

Profit for the year before tax

14,626,977

6,839,395

(2,556,266)

−

12,070,711

6,839,395

536,648

−

12,607,359

6,839,395

Net interest income after loan impairment charges
27
27

Fee and commission income
Fee and commission expense
Net fee income

28

Other income

Net interest, fee, commission and other income
Operating expenses

29
30
15
13

Personnel expenses
General and administrative expenses
Amortization of intangible assets
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

31

Income tax expense

Profit for the year after tax
Other comprehensive income

21

Unrealised gains on investment securities, net of tax

Comprehensive income for the year
The notes on pages 31 to 97 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited
Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended September 30, 2016
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

Notes

2016
$

2015
$

14,626,977

6,839,395

(44,011,290)
12,838,522
1,374,641
555,242
1,019,661
(120,225)

(30,729,749)
10,577,799
1,384,501
994,767
412,513
(69,637)

(13,716,472)

(10,590,411)

33,678,843
(16,426,315)
(401,418)
(6,748,624)

(12,868,477)
2,339,647
208,427
681,736

Deposits from customers
Other liabilities and accrued expenses

27,508,414
20,959,262

(8,044,028)
(2,845,373)

Cash used in operations
Interest received
Interest paid

44,853,690
44,065,507
(13,127,973)

(31,118,479)
31,180,754
(10,884,753)

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating
activities

75,791,224

(10,822,478)

15

(861,273)
(11,894,944)
14,306,340
(709,089)

(710,011)
(51,018,316)
34,992,443
(324,863)

23

18,984,781

−

19,825,815

(17,060,747)

Repayment of borrowings

(21,521,938)

(1,503,658)

Net cash used in financing activities

(21,521,938)

(1,503,658)

Cash flows from operating activities

Operating profit for the year before tax
Adjustments for items not affecting cash:
Interest income
Interest expense
Depreciation
Amortization of intangible assets
Provision for loan impairment charges
Other non-cash items

26
26
13
15
11

Cash flows used in operating activities
Net decrease/(increase) in operating assets
Loans and advances to customers
Mandatory deposits with the Central Bank
Other assets
Restricted deposits

Net increase/(decrease) in operating
liabilities

Cash flows from investing activities

13

Purchase of plant and equipment
Purchase of investment securities
Disposal of investment securities
Purchase of intangible assets
Acquisition of net assets in business combination net
of cash acquired

Net cash generated from/ (used in) investing
activities
Cash flows from financing activities
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Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited
Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended September 30, 2016
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

Notes

2016
$
74,095,101

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Exchange gains on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
25

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

The notes on pages 31 to 97 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2015
$
(29,386,883)

120,225

69,637

61,274,641

90,591,887

135,489,967

61,274,641

30

24,000,000
−
−
−
−

47,869,339
−
−
−
−

Balance as of September 30, 2014

Comprehensive income for the year

Reserve for loan loss provision

Reserve for interest recognised on impaired loans

Statutory reserve

−
−
−
−
−
−
24,000,000

−
−
−
−
−
−
47,869,339

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

Reserve for loan loss provision

Reserve for interest recognised on impaired loans

Statutory reserve

The notes on pages 31 to 97 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Balance as of September 30, 2016

24,000,000

47,869,339

Balance as of September 30, 2015

Common
shares
$

Preference
shares
$

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

For the year ended September 30, 2016

Statement of Changes in Equity

Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited

340,231
(74,426)
(1,367,879)

(340,231)
74,426
1,367,879

(638,417)
2,414,142

−
−

10,493,633

246,067

−

536,648

−

−

536,648
536,648

−

23,197,198

(2,414,142)

638,417

(246,067)

12,070,711

−

12,070,711

13,148,279

6,839,395

−

8,471,841

7,410,958

Retained
earnings
$

7,369,767

Other
reserves
$

−

−

−

−

−

−

Revaluation
reserve
$

106,096,818

−

−

−

12,607,359

536,648

12,070,711

93,489,459

−

−

−

6,839,395

86,650,064

Total
$

Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2016

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

1

Nature of operations
The principal activity of Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited (the “Bank”) is the provision of commercial
banking services. The Bank is licensed to carry on banking business in Antigua and Barbuda and is regulated by the
Eastern Caribbean Central Bank in accordance with the Banking Act No. 10 of 2015 and the Eastern Caribbean
Central Bank Act No. 10 of 1983.

2

General information and statement of compliance with IFRS
Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited is a limited liability company incorporated on July 16, 2009 in Antigua
and Barbuda under the provisions of the Antigua Companies Act 1995. On October 18, 2010, the Bank purchased
certain assets and liabilities from Bank of Antigua Limited and began trading on that date. The Bank’s registered
office is located at 1000 Airport Boulevard, Coolidge, Antigua.
The financial statements of the Bank have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) and IFRIC interpretations as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

3

Changes in accounting policies
3.1 New and revised standards that are effective for the Bank’s annual periods beginning on or after
October 1, 2015
The Bank has not adopted any new standards or amendments that have a significant impact on the Bank’s results or
financial position.
3.2 Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not
been adopted early by the Bank
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to
existing standards have been published by the IASB but are not yet effective, and have not been adopted early by the
Bank.
Management anticipates that all of the relevant pronouncements will be adopted in the Bank’s accounting policies for
the first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement. Information on new standards, amendments
and interpretations that are expected to be relevant to the Bank’s financial statements is provided below. Certain
other new standards and interpretations have been issued but are not expected to have a material impact on the
Bank’s financial statements.
IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’
IFRS 15 presents new requirements for the recognition of revenue, replacing IAS 18 ‘Revenue’, IAS 11 ‘Construction
Contracts’, and several revenue-related Interpretations. The new standard establishes a control-based revenue
recognition model and provides additional guidance in many areas not covered in detail under existing IFRSs,
including how to account for arrangements with multiple performance obligations, variable pricing, customer refund
rights, supplier repurchase options, and other common complexities.
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Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2016

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

3

Changes in accounting policies … continued
3.2 Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not
been adopted early by the Bank … continued
IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ … continued
The Bank’s management have yet to fully assess the impact of IFRS 15 on these financial statements, and is not yet in
a position to provide a quantified information. IFRS 15 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2018.
IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’
The new standard for financial instruments (IFRS 9) introduces extensive changes to IAS 39’s guidance on the
classification and measurement of financial assets and introduces a new ‘expected credit loss’ model for the
impairment of financial assets. IFRS 9 also provides new guidance on the application of hedge accounting. The
Bank’s management have yet to fully assess the impact of IFRS 9 on these financial statements, and is not yet in a
position to provide quantified information.
IFRS 9 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
At this stage the main areas of expected impact are as follows:
 the classification and measurement of the Bank’s financial assets will need to be reviewed based on the new
criteria that consider the assets’ contractual cash flows and the business model in which they are managed;
 an expected credit loss-based impairment will need to be recognised on the Bank’s loans and receivables and
investments in debt-type assets currently classified as available-for-sale and held-to-maturity, unless classified as
at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with the new criteria; and
 it will no longer be possible to measure equity investments at cost less impairment and all such investments will
instead be measured at fair value. Changes in fair value will be presented in profit or loss unless the Bank makes
an irrevocable designation to present them in other comprehensive income.
IFRS 16 ‘Leases’
IFRS 16 will replace IAS 17 and three related Interpretations. It completes the IASB’s long-running project to
overhaul lease accounting. Leases will be recorded on the statement of financial position in the form of a right-of-use
asset and a lease liability. IFRS 16 is effective from periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The Bank’s
management is yet to fully assess the impact of IFRS 16 on these financial statements, and therefore is not yet in a
position to provide quantified information. However, in order to determine the impact the Bank will:
 perform a full review of all agreements to assess whether any additional contracts will now become a lease under
IFRS 16’s new definition;
 decide which transitional provisions to adopt; either full retrospective application or partial retrospective
application (which means comparatives do not need to be restated). The partial application method also provides
optional relief from reassessing whether contracts in place are, or contain, a lease, as well as other reliefs.
Deciding which of these practical expedients to adopt is important as they are one-off choices;
 assess their current disclosures for operating leases (note 22) as these are likely to form the basis of the amounts
to be capitalised and become right-of-use assets;
 determine which optional accounting simplifications apply to their lease portfolio and if they are going to use
these exemptions; and
 assessing the additional disclosures that will be required.
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Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2016

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

4

Summary of accounting policies
4.1 Overall considerations
The financial statements have been prepared using the significant accounting policies and measurement bases
summarised below.
4.2 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, non-mandatory deposits with the ECCB and demand deposits,
together with other short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
4.3 Financial instruments
Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Bank becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the financial instrument and are measured initially at fair value adjusted for transaction costs. Subsequent
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities is described below. Financial assets are derecognised when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the financial asset and all substantial risks
and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or
expired.
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified into the following categories upon initial
recognition:
• loans and receivables;
• held-to-maturity (HTM) investments; and
• available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets.
All financial assets are subject to review for impairment at least at each reporting date to identify whether there is any
objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. Different criteria to determine
impairment are applied for each category of financial assets, which are described below. All income and expenses
relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are presented within interest income and interest
expense, except for impairment of loans and advances which is presented separately in the statement of
comprehensive income.
(a) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less provision for impairment. Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Bank’s cash
and cash equivalents, loans and advances to customers, and some investment securities fall into this category of
financial instruments.
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Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2016

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

4

Summary of accounting policies … continued
4.3 Financial instruments … continued
(b) Held-to-maturity financial assets
HTM investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities other
than loans and receivables. Investments are classified as HTM if the Bank has the intention and ability to hold them
until maturity. HTM investments are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
(c) Available-for-sale financial assets
AFS financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated to this category or do not qualify for
inclusion in any of the other categories of financial assets. The equity investments in Eastern Caribbean Securities
Exchange Limited and Eastern Caribbean Home Mortgage Bank are measured at cost less any impairment charges,
as the fair value cannot currently be estimated reliably. Impairment charges are recognised in profit or loss. All other
AFS financial assets are measured at fair value. Gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income and
reported within the AFS reserve within equity, except for interest and dividend income, impairment losses and
foreign exchange differences on monetary assets, which are recognised in profit or loss. When the asset is disposed
of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified from the equity reserve to profit or loss. Interest is calculated using the effective interest method.
AFS financial assets are included in non-current assets unless the investment matures or management intends to
dispose of it within 12 months of the end of the reporting period.
Impairment of financial assets
(a) Assets carried at amortised cost
The Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are
incurred if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

The criteria that the Bank uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss include:
(i) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;
(ii) a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;
(iii) the lender, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, granting to the borrower
a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider;
(iv) it becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
(v) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or
(vi) observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a
portfolio of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be
identified with the individual financial assets in the portfolio, including:
(1) adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the portfolio; or
(2) national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the portfolio.
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Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2016

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

4

Summary of accounting policies … continued
4.3 Financial instruments … continued
Impairment of financial assets … continued
(a) Assets carried at amortised cost … continued
The Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are
individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the
Bank determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and
collectively assesses them for impairment.

The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not yet been incurred) discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount is then reduced to the recoverable amount as at
the reporting date. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the
current effective interest rate determined under the contract. As a practical expedient, the Bank may measure
impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an observable market price.
The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised financial asset reflects the
cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not
foreclosure is probable.
For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of similar credit
risk characteristics (i.e. on the basis of the Bank’s grading process that considers asset type, industry, geographical
location, collateral type, past-due status and other relevant factors). Those characteristics are relevant to the
estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by being indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts
due according to the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated.
Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the
basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets in the group and historical loss experience for assets with credit risk
characteristics similar to those in the group. Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable
data to reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss experience
is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not currently exist.
Estimates of changes in future cash flows for groups of assets should reflect and be directionally consistent with
changes in related observable data from period to period (for example, changes in unemployment rates, property
prices, payment status, or other factors indicative of changes in the probability of losses in the group and their
magnitude). The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the
Bank to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.
When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance for loan impairment. Such loans are
written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined.
Impairment charges relating to loans and advances to banks and customers are classified in loan impairment charges
whilst impairment charges relating to investment securities (held to maturity and loans and receivables categories) are
classified in ‘Impairment of investment securities’.
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Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2016

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
4

Summary of accounting policies … continued
4.3 Financial instruments … continued
Impairment of financial assets … continued
(a)

Assets carried at amortised cost … continued

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating),
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the
reversal is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
(b) Assets classified as available-for-sale
The Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is objective evidence of impairment resulting in the
recognition of an impairment loss.
If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference
between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously
recognised in profit or loss – is removed from equity and recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
Impairment losses previously recognised in operating profit on equity instruments are not reversed through
operating profit. Any subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income.
If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and the
increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss,
the impairment loss is reversed through operating profit within the statement of comprehensive income.
(c) Renegotiated Loans
Loans that are either subject to collective impairment assessment or individually significant and whose terms have
been renegotiated are no longer considered to be past due, but are treated as new loans. In subsequent years, the
asset is considered to be past due and disclosed only if renegotiated again.
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
The Bank’s financial liabilities include customer deposits, borrowings, and other liabilities and accrued expenses.
Financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. All interestrelated charges are included within interest expense in the statement of comprehensive income.
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Summary of accounting policies … continued
4.3 Financial instruments….continued
Classes of financial instruments
The Bank classifies its financial instruments into classes that reflect the nature of the information and take into
account the characteristics of those financial instruments. The classification made can be seen in the table below:
Due from banks and other financial
institutions

Loans and
advances to
individuals

Loans and
receivables

Loans and
advances to
customers

Financial
assets

Loans and
advances to
corporate entities
Loans and
advances to
government and
statutory bodies

Investment
securities

Treasury bills
Debt instruments
Other assets

Available-for-sale
financial assets

Investment
securities

Held-to-Maturity

Investment
securities

Debt instruments
Equity securities
Debt instruments

Correspondent
bank accounts
Fixed deposits
Demand loans
Mortgage loans
Non- performing
loans and advances
Rebate Loans
Overdrafts
Credit Card
advances
Demand Loans
Mortgage loans
Non -performing
loans and advances
Overdrafts
Demand Loans
Overdrafts
Local and regional
treasury bills
Quoted
Unquoted
Quoted
Unquoted
Quoted
Unquoted
Quoted

Customers’ deposits
Financial
liabilities

Amortised cost

Borrowings
Other liabilities and accrued expenses
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Summary of accounting policies … continued
4.3 Financial instruments … continued
Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to either settle on a net
basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
4.4 Provisions, contingent assets and contingent liabilities
Provisions for legal disputes or other claims are recognised when the Bank has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required from the
Bank and amounts can be estimated reliably. Timing or amount of the outflow may still be uncertain.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure
required to settle the present obligation, based on the most reliable evidence available at the reporting date, including
the risks and uncertainties associated with the present obligation. Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. Provisions are discounted to their present values, where the time value of money is material. In those cases
where the possible outflow of economic resources as a result of present obligations is considered improbable or
remote, no liability is recognised.
Any reimbursement that the Bank can be virtually certain to collect from a third party with respect to the obligation
is recognised as a separate asset. However, this asset may not exceed the amount of the related provision.
4.5 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at acquisition cost including any costs directly attributable to
bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
the Bank’s management.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or are recognised as a separate asset as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Bank and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of comprehensive
income during the financial period in which they are incurred.
As no finite useful life for land can be determined, related carrying amounts are not depreciated. Depreciation of
other assets is recognised on a straight-line basis to write down the cost less estimated residual values of the
assets. The following useful lives are applied:
Buildings
Furniture and fixtures
Equipment
Computer equipment
Motor vehicles

50 years
3 – 10 years
3 – 10 years
3 – 5 years
3 – 5 years
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Summary of accounting policies … continued
4.5 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation ….continued
Material residual value estimates and estimates of useful life are updated as required, but at least annually. Gains or
losses arising on the disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference between the
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the assets and are recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income within ‘other income’ or ‘other expenses’.
4.6 Intangible assets
Computer software
Computer software licences acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Other acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and install the
specific software.
Customer list intangible
The customer list intangible is an intangible asset that represents the intrinsic value that is contained in the customer
deposit base acquired in a business combination. It is recognised because it is separable and the fair value can be
reliably measured. The value of the customer list acquired in the business combination is generally determined using
income approach methodologies such as the discounted cash flow method. The customer list intangible is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date, which is the deemed cost of the asset. It has a finite useful life and is
carried at cost less amortisation and provisions for impairment, if any, plus reversals of impairment, if any. The asset
is amortised over its estimated useful life based on the expected life of the customer relationship.
Subsequent measurement
Any intangible assets that are not acquired through a business combination are accounted for using the cost model
whereby capitalised costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, generally not
exceeding 20 years, as these assets are considered finite. Residual values and useful lives are reviewed at each
reporting date. In addition, they are subject to impairment testing as described in note 4.10. The following useful
lives are applied:
Software
Customer list

3 – 5 years
11 years

Amortisation of intangible assets has been reported separately within the expenses in the statement of
comprehensive income. Subsequent expenditures on the maintenance of computer software are expensed as
incurred.
When an intangible asset is disposed of, the gain or loss on disposal is determined as the difference between the
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, and is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income within
‘other income’ or ‘other expenses’.
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Summary of accounting policies … continued
4.7 Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in Eastern Caribbean Dollars, which is also the functional currency of the
Bank.
Foreign currency transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into Eastern Caribbean Dollars using the closing rates of exchange
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the re-measurement of monetary items denominated in foreign currency at year-end exchange
rates are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
Non-monetary items are not retranslated at year-end and are measured at historical cost (translated using the
exchange rates at the transaction date), except for non-monetary items measured at fair value which are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when fair value was determined.
4.8 Equity and reserves
Share capital represents the issue price of shares that have been issued. Any transaction costs associated with the
issuing of shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of any related income tax benefits. Ordinary shares and
preference shares that do not exhibit any debt characteristics are classified as equity.
Other components of equity include the following:
•
Other reserves which comprises statutory and regulatory reserves as stipulated by the Banking Act No. 10 of
2015 and the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank (note 21); and
•
Retained earnings, which includes all current and prior periods’ retained profits or losses.
4.9 Operating expenses
Operating expenses are recognised in profit or loss upon utilisation of the service or at the date of their origin.
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Summary of accounting policies … continued
4.10 Impairment of non-financial assets
All individual assets or cash-generating units are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. To
determine the value-in-use, management estimates expected future cash flows from each cash-generating unit and
determines a suitable interest rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The data used for
impairment testing procedures are directly linked to the Bank’s latest approved budget, adjusted as necessary to
exclude the effects of future reorganisations and asset enhancements. Discount factors are determined individually
for each cash-generating unit and reflect management’s assessment of respective risk profiles, such as market and
asset-specific risks factors.
All assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously recognised may no longer
exist. An impairment loss is reversed if the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount exceeds its carrying
amount.
4.11 Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as
operating leases. All of the Bank’s leases are treated as operating leases and the Bank is a lessee. All payments on
operating lease agreements are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Associated
costs, such as maintenance and insurance, are expensed as incurred.
4.12 Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments are recognised within ‘interest income’ and
‘interest expense’ in the statement of comprehensive income using the effective interest method.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability
and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial
instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial
liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Bank estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms
of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment options) but does not consider future credit losses. The
calculation includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.
Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of an impairment loss,
interest income is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss.
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Summary of accounting policies … continued
4.13 Fee and commission income
Fees and commissions are generally recognised on the accrual basis when the service has been provided. Loan
commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down are deferred (together with related direct costs) and
recognised using the effective interest method over the term of the loan.
4.14 Employee Benefits
Post-employment benefit plan
The Bank provides post-employment benefits through a defined contribution plan. The Bank pays fixed
contributions into a privately administered staff retirement savings plan for individual employees. The Bank has no
legal or constructive obligations to pay contributions in addition to its fixed contributions, which are recognised as
an expense in the period that relevant employee services are received.
Prepaid employee short term benefit
The Bank facilitates loans to its staff at rates that are relatively low in comparison to the normal market rates in the
Eastern Caribbean Currency Union (ECCU). These loans are recognised at fair value using a normal market rate,
and the difference between the fair value and the consideration given to the employees is recorded as a pre-paid
short term employee benefit. The pre-paid short-term employee benefit is amortised through the statement of
comprehensive income over the expected service life of the relevant individual employees or the expected life of the
relevant individual loans, whichever is shorter.
Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits, including holiday entitlement, are current liabilities included in other liabilities and
accrued expenses, measured at the undiscounted amount that the Bank expects to pay as a result of the unused
entitlement.
4.15 Financial guarantee contracts
Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due, in accordance with the terms
of a debt instrument. Such financial guarantees are given to banks, financial institutions and other bodies on behalf
of customers to secure loans, overdrafts and other banking facilities.
Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial statements at fair value on the date the guarantee was
given. The fair value of a financial guarantee at the time of signature is zero because all guarantees are agreed on
arm’s length terms and the value of the premium agreed corresponds to the value of the guarantee obligation. No
receivable for the future premiums is recognised. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Bank’s liabilities under such
guarantees are measured at the higher of the initial amount, less amortisation of fees recognised in accordance with
IAS 18, and the best estimate of the amount required to settle the guarantee. These estimates are determined based
on experience of similar transactions and history of past losses, supplemented by the judgement of management.
The fee income earned is recognised on a straight-line basis over the life of the guarantee. Any increase in the
liability relating to guarantees is reported in the statement of comprehensive income within operating expenses.
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Summary of accounting policies … continued
4.16

Current and deferred income taxes

Tax expense recognised in the statement of comprehensive income comprises the sum of deferred tax and current
tax not recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.
Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating
to the current or prior reporting periods, that are unpaid at the reporting date. Current tax is payable on taxable
profit, which differs from profit or loss in the financial statements. Calculation of current tax is based on tax rates
and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period in Antigua and
Barbuda.
Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method on temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected to apply to their
respective period of realisation, provided those rates are enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that the underlying tax loss or deductible
temporary difference will be able to be utilised against future taxable income. This is assessed based on the Bank’s
forecast of future operating results, adjusted for significant non-taxable income and expenses and specific limits on
the use of any unused tax loss or credit.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only when the Bank has a right and intention to set off current tax assets
and liabilities from the same taxation authority.
Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a component of tax income or expense in profit or loss,
except where they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income (such as the revaluation of
assets) or directly in equity, in which case the related deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or equity, respectively.
4.17

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.
4.18

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are
capitalised during the period of time that is necessary to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale.
Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred and reported in interest expense (note
26).
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4.19 Business combinations
Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration for each acquisition is
measured at the aggregate of the fair values (at the date of exchange) of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed,
and equity instruments issued by the Bank in exchange for control of the business.
Acquired assets and liabilities assumed are measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. Acquisition-related
costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Bank reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete.
Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period, or additional assets or liabilities are
recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date
that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date. The measurement period is the period
from the date of acquisition to the date the Bank obtains complete information about facts and circumstances that
existed as of the acquisition date – and is subject to a maximum of one year.
Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is measured
as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. Goodwill is subsequently carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses.

5

Financial instruments risk
The Bank’s business involves taking on risks in a targeted manner and managing them professionally. The core
functions of the Bank’s risk management policies and procedures are to identify all key risks for the Bank, measure
these risks, manage the risk positions and determine capital allocations. The Bank regularly reviews its risk
management policies and systems to reflect changes in markets, products and best market practice.
The Bank’s aim is to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and minimise potential adverse effects
on the Bank’s financial performance.
The Bank defines risk as the possibility of losses, or profits foregone, which may be caused by internal or external
factors.
Risk management is carried out by the Bank’s Asset and Liability Management Committee (ALCO) under policies
approved by the Board of Directors. The ALCO committee identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close
co-operation with the Bank’s operating departments. The Board provides principles for overall risk management, as
well as policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and credit risk. In addition,
internal audit is responsible for the independent review of risk management and the control environment.
The risks arising from financial instruments to which the Bank is exposed are financial risks, which include credit risk,
liquidity risk, market risk (which are discussed below) and operational risk.
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Financial instruments risk…continued
5.1

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of suffering financial loss, should any of the Bank’s customers, clients or market counterparties
fail to fulfil their contractual obligations to the Bank. Credit risk arises mainly from commercial and consumer loans
and advances, credit cards, and loan commitments arising from such lending activities, but can also arise from credit
enhancement provided, such as financial guarantees and letters of credit.
The Bank is also exposed to other credit risks arising from investments in debt securities.
Credit risk is the single largest risk for the Bank’s business; management therefore carefully manages its exposure to
credit risk. The credit risk management and control including risk on debt securities, cash, loans and advances, credit
cards and loan commitments are monitored by the ALCO and the Credit committees, which report to the Board of
Directors regularly.
5.1.1 Credit risk measurement
(a) Loans and advances (including loan commitments and guarantees)
The estimation of credit exposure is complex and requires the use of models, as the value of a product varies with
changes in market variables, expected cash flows and the passage of time. The assessment of credit risk of a portfolio
of assets entails further estimations as to the likelihood of defaults occurring, of the associated loss ratios and of
default correlations between counterparties.
The Bank assesses the probability of default of individual counterparties using internal rating tools tailored to the
various categories of the counterparty. They have been developed based on the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank’s
guidelines. Customers of the Bank are segmented into five rating classes. The Bank’s rating scale, which is shown
below, reflects the range of default probabilities defined for each rating class. This means that, in principle, exposures
migrate between classes as the assessment of their probability of default changes. The ratings tools are kept under
review and upgraded as necessary.
Bank’s rating

Description of the grade

1
2
3
4
5

Pass
Special mention
Sub-standard
Doubtful
Loss

(b) Debt and equity securities
The Bank’s portfolio of debt and equity securities and other bills consists of bonds and treasury bills issued by
Governments within the Organisation of Eastern Caribbean States (OECS) and corporate bonds. The bonds are
quoted but not traded in an active market. The Bank assesses the risk of default on these instruments by regularly
monitoring the performance of the respective Governments through published government data, information
received directly from government departments and information published by international agencies such as the
International Monetary Fund (IMF) and the World Bank. The risk of default on regional corporate debt is assessed
by continuous monitoring of the performance of these companies through published financial information, and other
data gleaned from various sources.
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Financial instruments risk…continued
5.1.2 Risk limit control and mitigation policies
The Bank manages, limits and controls concentrations of credit risk wherever they are identified, in particular to
individual counterparties and groups, and to industries.
The Bank structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in relation
to one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and industry segments. Such risks are monitored on a revolving basis and
subject to regular review by the Board of Directors.
The exposure to any one borrower, including banks and brokers is further restricted by sub-limits covering on and
off balance sheet exposures. Actual exposures against limits are monitored, on an ongoing basis.
Lending limits are reviewed in light of changing market and economic conditions and periodic credit reviews and
assessments of probability of default.
Some other specific control and mitigation measures are outlined below:
(a) Collateral
The Bank employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most traditional of these is the taking
of security for funds advanced, which is a common practice. The Bank implements guidelines on the acceptability of
specific classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation. The principal collateral types for loans and advances are as
follows:




Mortgages over properties
Charges over business assets, primarily the premises
Hypothecation of deposits

Longer-term finance and lending to corporate entities are generally secured; individual credit facilities are generally
secured. In addition, in order to minimise the credit loss, the Bank will seek additional collateral from the
counterparty as soon as there are impairment indicators for the relevant individual loans and advances.
Collateral held as security for financial assets other than loans and advances is determined by the nature of the
instrument. Debt securities, treasury and other eligible bills are generally unsecured.
(b) Financial guarantees (for credit related commitments)
The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer as required.
Guarantees and standby letters of credit carry the same credit risk as loans. Documentary and commercial letters of
credit which are written undertakings by the Bank on behalf of a customer authorising a third party to draw drafts
on the Bank up to a stipulated amount under specific terms and conditions are collateralised by the underlying
shipment of goods to which they relate, and therefore carry less risk than a direct loan.
Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorisations to extend credit in the form of loans,
guarantees or letters of credit. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the Bank is potentially
exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments. However, the likely amount of loss is less than
the total unused commitments, as most commitments to extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining
specific credit standards. The Bank monitors the term to maturity of credit commitments because longer-term
commitments generally have a greater degree of credit risk than shorter term commitments.
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5.1.3

Impairment and provisioning policies

The internal rating system described in Note 5.1.1 focuses on expected credit losses – that is, taking into account the
risk of future events giving rise to loss. In contrast, impairment provisions are recognised for financial reporting
purposes only for losses that have been incurred at the reporting date, based on the objective evidence of impairment.
Due to the different methodologies applied, the amount of incurred credit losses provided for in the financial
statements is usually lower than the amount determined from the expected loss model that is used for internal
operational management and banking regulation purposes.
The impairment allowance shown in the statement of financial position at year end is derived from each of the five
rating grades. However, the largest component of the impairment allowance comes from the substandard grade. The
table below shows the percentage of the Bank’s on- and off-balance sheet items, such as financial guarantees, loan
commitments and other credit related obligations, relating to loans and advances and the associated impairment
allowance for each of the Bank’s rating categories.
Loans and
advances
$

%

At September 30, 2016
Pass
Special Mention
Substandard
Doubtful
Loss

317,251,048
154,012,656
22,429,439
2,331,268
131,167

64
31
5
−
−

Gross loans and advances
Interest receivable
Deferred loan origination fees
Portfolio allowance

496,155,578
5,348,193
(423,976)
−

Impairment
provision
$

%

Net total
$

−
(197,446)
(1,810,879)
(1,063,999)
(128,626)

−
6
57
33
4

317,251,048
153,815,210
20,618,560
1,267,269
2,541

100
−
−
−

(3,200,950)
−
−
(794,371)

100
−
−
−

492,954,628
5,348,193
(423,976)
(794,371)

501,079,795

100

(3,995,321)

100

497,084,474

At September 30, 2015
Pass
Special Mention
Substandard
Doubtful
Loss

178,244,251
115,086,466
20,651,690
2,417,159
650,467

56
36
7
1
−

−
(30,084)
(1,524,839)
(1,180,679)
(399,011)

−
1
49
38
12

178,244,251
115,056,382
19,126,851
1,236,480
251,456

Gross loans and advances
Interest receivable
Deferred loan origination fees
Portfolio allowance

317,050,033
5,302,349
(386,758)
−

100
−
−
−

(3,134,613)
−
−
(633,389)

100
−
−
−

313,915,420
5,302,349
(386,758)
(633,389)

321,965,624

100

(3,768,002)

100

318,197,622
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Financial instruments risk … continued
5.1.4 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements

Credit risk exposures relating to on-balance sheet assets:
Due from banks and other financial institutions
Investment securities:
Loans and receivables
Held-to-maturity investments
Available-for-sale investments – securities (quoted)
Loans and advances to customers
Other financial assets

Credit risk exposures relating to off-balance sheet items:
Financial guarantees
Loan commitments and other credit related facilities

Total credit exposure

48

2016
$

2015
$

47,962,751

13,298,512

108,298,997
−
16,442,180
497,084,474
329,309

105,059,808
1,012,450
14,522,695
318,197,622
446,245

670,117,711

452,537,332

2016
$

2015
$

6,103,000
33,705,326

6,224,500
21,845,434

39,808,326

28,069,934

709,926,037

480,607,266
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Financial instruments risk … continued
5.1.4

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements … continued

The previous table represents a worst case scenario of credit risk exposures to the Bank as of September 30, 2016,
without taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements attached. For on-balance sheet assets,
the exposures set out above are based on net carrying amounts as reported in the statement of financial position.
As shown above 69% (2015: 66%) of the total maximum exposure is derived from loans and advances to customers
and 17% (2015: 25%) is derived from investment securities.
Management is confident in its ability to continue to control and sustain minimal exposure of credit risk to the Bank
resulting from both its loans and advances portfolio and debt securities based on the following:




95% (2015: 93%) of the loans and advances portfolio are categorised in the top two grades of the internal rating
system, being Pass and Special mention, as defined in 5.1.3;
69% (2015: 59%) of the loans and advances portfolio are considered to be neither past due nor impaired, as
defined in 5.1.5; and
6% (2015: 8%) of loans and advances are considered impaired as defined in 5.1.5.

Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure
(a) Geographical sectors
The following table analyses the Bank’s main credit exposure at their carrying amounts, (without taking into account
any collateral held or other credit support) as categorised by geographical region as of September 30, 2016. For all
classes of assets, the Bank has allocated exposures to regions based on the country of domicile of the counterparties.

49

50

5

Total

Credit exposures relating to off-balance sheet items:
– Financial guarantees
– Loan commitments and other credit related facilities

Investment securities:
– Loans and receivables investments
− Held-to-maturity investments
− Available-for-sale investments - debt securities (quoted)
Loans and advances to customers
Other financial assets

Credit risk exposures relating to on-balance sheet assets:
Due from banks and other financial institutions

As of September 30, 2016

554,627,494

105,252,804

−
−

105,252,804

514,819,168
6,103,000
33,705,326

88,633,528
−
15,437,980
−
−

1,181,296

2,663,966
13,737,219
−
1,004,200
497,084,474
329,309

Other
Caribbean
$

Antigua &
Barbuda
$

Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure … continued

5.1.4 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements … continued
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Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited

48,354,848

−
−

48,354,848

5,928,250
−
−
−
−

42,426,598

North
America
$

1,690,891

−
−

1,690,891

−
−
−
−
−

1,690,891

Europe
$

709,926,037

6,103,000
33,705,326

670,117,711

108,298,997
−
16,442,180
497,084,474
329,309

47,962,751

Total
$
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360,919,152

Total

102,331,390

–
–

102,331,390

332,849,218
6,224,500
21,845,434

88,397,245
–
12,522,695
–
–

1,411,450

Other
Caribbean
$

10,733,863
1,012,450
2,000,000
318,197,622
446,245

459,038

Credit exposures relating to off-balance sheet items:
– Financial guarantees
– Loan commitments and other credit related facilities

Investment securities:
– Loans and receivables investments
− Held-to-maturity investments
− Available-for-sale investments – debt securities (quoted)
Loans and advances to customers
Other financial assets

Credit risk exposures relating to on-balance sheet assets:
Due from banks and other financial institutions

As of September 30, 2015
Antigua &
Barbuda
$

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements … continued

Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure … continued

5.1.4

Financial instruments risk... continued

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2016
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Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited

15,079,170

–
–

15,079,170

5,928,700
–
–
–
–

9,150,470

North
America
$

2,277,554

–
–

2,277,554

–
–
–
–
–

2,277,554

Europe
$

480,607,266

6,224,500
21,845,434

452,537,332

105,059,808
1,012,450
14,522,695
318,197,622
446,245

13,298,512

Total
$

Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2016

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
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Financial instruments risk ... continued
5.1.4

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements … continued

Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure ... continued
(b) Economic risk concentrations within the customer loan portfolio were as follows:
2016
$

%

2015
$

%

Public sector
Personal
Construction/Real Estate
Distributive Trade
Credit card advances
Professional
Manufacturing
Other industries
Tourism

270,061,662
165,896,823
20,237,153
17,123,611
8,505,421
5,412,372
975,446
3,508,478
4,434,612

54.4%
33.4%
4.1%
3.5%
1.7%
1.1%
0.2%
0.7%
0.9%

171,800,118
118,828,805
15,876,469
−
3,708,427
3,376,780
1,474,612
1,788,452
196,370

54.2%
37.5%
5.0%
0.0%
1.1%
1.0%
0.5%
0.6%
0.1%

Total

496,155,578

100.0%

317,050,033

100%

5.1.5

Loans and advances

Loans and advances are summarised as follows:
Loans and
advances to
customers
2016
$

Loans and
advances to
customers
2015
$

Neither past due nor impaired
Past due but not impaired
Impaired

341,268,791
125,319,147
29,567,640

187,914,827
104,207,782
24,927,424

Gross

496,155,578

317,050,033

5,348,193

5,302,349

Interest receivable
Less:
Deferred loan origination fees
Provision for losses on
loans and advances
Net loans and advances

52

(423,976)

(386,758)

(3,995,321)
(
497,084,474

(3,768,002)
318,197,622

Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2016

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
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Financial instruments risk... continued
5.1.5

Loans and advances … continued

Allocation of allowance for impairment:
Individually impaired
Portfolio allowance

Loans and
advances to
customers
2016
$

Loans and
advances to
customers
2015
$

(3,200,950)
(794,371)

(3,134,613)
(633,389)

(3,995,321)

(3,768,002)

The total impairment allowance for loans and advances is $3,995,321 of which $3,200,950 relates to individually
impaired loans and the remaining amount of $794,371 represents the portfolio allowance. Further information on the
impairment allowance for loans and advances to customers is provided in note 11.
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Loans and advances … continued

Pass
Special mention

September 30, 2015

Pass
Special mention

September 30, 2016

946,033
2,680,027
3,626,060

3,053,992
−
3,053,992

11,260,032

7,328,757

Overdrafts
$

1,598,572
9,661,460

7,328,757
-

Credit cards
$

Overdrafts
$

Credit cards
$

87,190,875

81,552,273
5,638,602

Personal
$

119,045,577

98,297,803
20,747,774

Personal
$

17,443,766

16,091,819
1,351,947

Commercial
$

30,769,334

13,996,188
16,773,146

Commercial
$

76,600,134

76,600,134
−

Public sector
$

172,865,091

172,865,091
−

Public sector
$

187,914,827

178,244,251
9,670,576

Total
$

341,268,791

294,086,411
47,182,380

Total
$

The credit quality of the portfolio of loans and advances that were neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to the internal rating system adopted by
the Bank.

(a) Loans and advances neither past due nor impaired

5.1.5

Financial instruments risk... continued

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2016
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Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2016

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
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Financial instruments risk... continued
5.1.5

Loans and advances ... continued

(b) Loans and advances past due but not impaired
Late processing and other administrative delays on the side of the borrower can lead to a financial asset being past
due but not impaired. Therefore, loans and advances to customers less than 90 days past due are not considered
impaired unless other information is available to indicate the contrary. Gross amounts of loans and advances by
class to customers that were past due but not impaired were as follows:
As of September 30, 2016

Past due up to 30 days
Past due 31 – 60 days
Past due 61 – 90 days

As of September 30, 2015

Past due up to 30 days
Past due 31 – 60 days
Past due 61 – 90 days

Credit cards
$

Personal
$

Commercial
$

Public Sector
$

Total
$

488,752
410,510
68,615

14,621,289
5,011,400
1,227,333

6,271,124
1,321,474
184,781

−
−
95,713,869

21,381,165
6,743,384
97,194,598

967,877

20,860,022

7,777,379

95,713,869

125,319,147

Credit cards
$

Personal
$

Commercial
$

Public Sector
$

Total
$

408,439
117,354
102,287

4,245,107
1,847,177
423,829

−
−
1,863,605

−
−
95,199,984

4,653,546
1,964,531
97,589,705

628,080

6,516,113

1,863,605

95,199,984

104,207,782
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Loans and advances individually impaired

Loans and advances ... continued

Overdrafts
$
1,236,664

26,355

1,815,816

208,786
Credit cards
$

Overdrafts
$

Credit cards
$

20,022,293

Personal
$

20,649,466

Personal
$

3,642,112

Commercial
$

6,893,572

Commercial
$

24,927,424

Total
$

29,567,640

Total
$

Renegotiated loans and advances to customers:
- Continuing to be impaired after restructuring – individuals
- Non-impaired after restructuring – individuals

579,701
13,667,265
14,246,966

829,033
8,740,402
9,569,435

Restructuring activities include extended payment arrangements, approved external management plans, modification and deferral of payments. Restructuring policies
and practices are based on indicators or criteria that, in the judgement of management, indicate that payment will most likely continue. These policies are kept under
continuous review. Restructuring is most commonly applied to term loans.
2016
2015
$
$

(d) Loans and advances renegotiated

Individually impaired loans and advances

As of September 30, 2015

Individually impaired loans and advances

As of September 30, 2016

The individually impaired loans and advances to customers before taking into consideration the cash flows from collateral held is $29,567,640 (2015: $24,927,424). The
breakdown of the gross amount of individually impaired loans and advances by class is as follows:

(c)

5.1.5

Financial instruments risk... continued

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2016
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Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited
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Financial instruments risk... continued
5.1.6

Debt securities

There is no formal rating of the credit quality of bonds, treasury bills and equity investments. A number of
qualitative and quantitative factors are considered in assessing the risk associated with each investment. However,
there is no hierarchy of ranking. There are no external ratings of securities at the year end. The table below
presents an analysis of debt securities, treasury bills and other eligible bills by rating agency designation at
September 30, 2016.
As of September 30, 2016
Loans and
receivables
$

Available for
sale
$

Held to
maturity
$

Total
$

Unrated

108,298,997

16,442,180

−

124,741,177

Total

108,298,997

16,442,180

−

124,741,177

Loans and
receivables
$

Available for
sale
$

Held to
maturity
$

Total
$

Unrated

105,059,808

14,522,695

1,012,450

120,594,953

Total

105,059,808

14,522,695

1,012,450

120,594,953

As of September 30, 2015
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Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2016

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
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Financial instruments risk... continued
5.2

Market risk

The Bank takes on exposure to market risk, which is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks arise from open positions in interest
rate, currency and equity products, all of which are exposed to general and specific market movements and changes
in the level of volatility of market rates or prices such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices.
The Bank’s exposure to market risk is from non-trading portfolios.
Non-trading portfolios market risk primarily arises from the interest rate management of the entity’s retail and
commercial banking assets and liabilities. Non-trading portfolios market risk also includes equity price risks arising
from the Bank’s available-for-sale investment securities.
5.2.1

Price risk

Though the Bank’s investment portfolio includes securities that are quoted on the Eastern Caribbean Securities
Exchange, its exposure to securities price risk is minimal because the total of these securities is insignificant in
relation to its statement of financial position, and because of limited volatility in this market. The Bank does not
hold securities that are quoted on the world’s major securities markets. The Bank is not exposed to commodity
price risk.
5.2.2

Foreign exchange risk

The Bank takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its
financial position and cash flows. The Board sets limits on the level of exposure by currency and in aggregate for
both overnight and intra-day positions, which are monitored daily.
Most of the Bank’s assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are held in United States dollars. The exchange rate of
the Eastern Caribbean dollar (EC$) to the United States dollar (US$) has been formally pegged at EC$2.7 =
US$1.00 since 1974. Therefore, there is no significant exposure to foreign exchange risk.
The following table summarises the Bank’s exposure to foreign currency exchange risk as of September 30, 2016.
Included in the table are the Bank’s financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by currency.
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Credit commitments

33,705,326

3,042,417

631,381,651

Total financial liabilities

Net on-balance sheet position

602,170,328
1,025,709
28,185,614

Liabilities
Customer's deposits
Borrowings
Other liabilities and accrued expenses

16,389,878

17,971,513

634,424,068

17,134,006
−

91,164,991
1,073,479

Total financial assets

396,421
42,764,213

93,722,717
3,817,462

6,103,000

81,864,277

65,560,118

65,560,118
−
−

147,424,395

70,739,877
−

USD
$

XCD
$

426,344,597
329,309

Foreign exchange risk ... continued

As of September 30, 2016
Cash and balances with the Central Bank
Due from banks and financial institutions
Investment securities:
– Loans and receivables
– Available-for-sale equity investments
– unquoted
– Available-for-sale investments
– quoted
Loans and advances to customers
Other financial assets

5.2.2

Financial instruments risk... continued

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2016
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−

765,914

−

−
−
−

765,914

−
−

−

−
−

144,518
621,396

EUR
$

−

700,637

−

−
−
−

700,637

−
−

−

−
−

88,687
611,950

GBP
$

−

228,197

4,403

4,403
−
−

232,600

−
−

−

−
−

84,870
147,730

Other
$

39,808,326

86,601,442

696,946,172

667,734,849
1,025,709
28,185,614

783,547,614

497,084,474
329,309

34,361,391

108,298,997
1,073,479

94,437,213
47,962,751

Total
$
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392,750,682
372,995,908
2,655,706
5,267,568
380,919,182

Total financial assets

Liabilities
Customer's deposits
Borrowings
Other liabilities and accrued expenses

Total financial liabilities

21,845,434

652,970
64,406,656
−

13,869,725
253,790,966
446,245

Credit commitments

−

105,860

11,831,500

−
16,982,616

1,012,450
88,077,192

Net on-balance sheet position

277,932
11,749,270

34,419,459
1,028,785

As of September 30, 2015
Cash and balances with the Central Bank
Due from banks and financial institutions
Investment securities:
– Held to maturity securities
– Loans and receivables
– Available-for-sale equity investments
– unquoted
– Available-for-sale debt investment
government securities – quoted
Loans and advances to customers
Other financial assets

6,224,500

61,256,761

32,812,683

32,812,683
−
−

94,069,444

USD
$

Foreign exchange risk ... continued
XCD
$

5.2.2
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−

175,941

−

−
−
−

175,941

−
−
−

−

−
−

66,555
109,386

EUR
$

−

363,891

−

−
−
−

363,891

−
−
−

−

−
−

62,526
301,365

GBP
$

−

145,595

−

−
−
−

145,595

−

−

−

−
−

35,889
109,706

Other
$

28,069,934

73,773,688

413,731,865

405,808,591
2,655,706
5,267,568

487,505,553

14,522,695
318,197,622
446,245

105,860

1,012,450
105,059,808

34,862,361
13,298,512

Total
$

Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2016

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
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Financial instruments risk... continued
5.2.3 Interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Bank takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in
the prevailing level of market interest rates on both its fair value and cash flow risks. Interest margins may increase
as a result of such changes but may reduce losses in the event unexpected movements arise. The Board of directors
sets limits on the level of mismatch of interest rate repricing that may be undertaken, which is monitored by the
ALCO Committee.
The following table summarises the Bank’s exposure to interest rate risks. It includes the Bank’s financial
instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates.
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−
−
28,692,184
−
102,770
6,338,470
−
35,133,424
67,759,810
297,253
−
68,057,063
(32,923,639)

−
−
10,726,186
−
279,055
27,339,198
−
38,344,439
392,977,967
148,626
−
393,126,593
(354,782,154)

Total financial assets

Liabilities
Customers’ deposits
Borrowings
Other liabilities and accrued expenses

Total financial liabilities

Total interest repricing gap

As of September 30, 2016
Assets
Cash and balances with the Central
bank
Due from banks and other financial
institutions
Investment securities:
– Loans and receivables
– Available-for-sale equity
– unquoted
– Available-for-sale investments –
quoted securities
Loans and advances to customers
Other financial assets

1 to 3
Months
$

Interest rate risk ... continued
Under 1
Month
$

5.2.3

Financial instruments risk... continued

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2016

Notes to Financial Statements

Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited

(128,668,863)

202,990,579

202,410,749
579,830
−

74,321,716

2,698,997
−

3,832,092

67,790,627
−

−

−

3 to 12
Months
$

32,864,313

3,619,931

3,619,931
−
−

36,484,244

24,277,230
−

11,525,263

681,751
−

−

−

1 to 5
Years
$

436,575,437

966,392

966,392
−
−

437,541,829

436,430,579
−

703,001

408,249
−

−

−

Over 5
Years
$

133,536,348

28,185,614

−
−
28,185,614

161,721,962

−
329,309

17,919,210

−
1,073,479

47,962,751

94,437,213

Non-interest
Bearing
$

86,601,442

696,946,172

667,734,849
1,025,709
28,185,614

783,547,614

497,084,474
329,309

34,361,391

108,298,997
1,073,479

47,962,751

94,437,213

Total
$
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Interest rate risk ... continued

(20,659,730)

(144,033,327)

Total interest repricing gap

45,817,673

178,004,448

Total financial liabilities

25,157,943

33,971,121
45,553,206
264,467
−

30,170
688,614
−

295,314
21,721,864
−

177,873,526
130,922
−

−

−

−

−
−
24,439,159

−

−

−
11,953,943

1 to 3
Months
$

Under 1
Month
$

Liabilities
Customers’ deposits
Borrowings
Other liabilities and accrued expenses

Total financial assets

As of September 30, 2015
Assets
Cash and balances with the Central
bank
Due from banks and other financial
institutions
Investment securities:
– Held to maturity investments
– Loans and receivables
– Available-for-sale equity
securities – unquoted
– Available-for-sale debt
investments - government
securities – quoted
Loans and advances to customers
Other financial assets

5.2.3

Financial instruments risk... continued

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2016
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(90,153,067)

163,360,002

162,125,427
1,234,575
−

73,206,935

1,035,543
4,504,541
−

−

1,012,450
66,654,401

−

−

3 to 12
Months
$

9,910,577

20,594,541

19,568,799
1,025,742
−

30,505,118

12,126,863
16,365,950
−

−

−
2,012,305

−

−

1 to 5
Years
$

275,263,825

687,633

687,633
−
−

275,951,458

1,034,805
274,916,653
−

−

−
−

−

−

Over 5
Years
$

43,445,410

5,267,568

−
−
5,267,568

48,712,978

−
−
446,245

105,860

−
−

13,298,512

34,862,361

Non-interest
Bearing
$

73,773,688

413,731,865

405,808,591
2,655,706
5,267,568

487,505,553

14,522,695
318,197,622
446,245

105,860

1,012,450
105,059,808

13,298,512

34,862,361

Total
$

Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2016

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

5 Financial instruments risk... continued
5.2.3 Interest rate risk ... continued
Because of limited volatility in the securities markets in which the Bank’s investments are held, the Bank is not
unduly exposed to fair value interest rate risk.
Cash flow interest rate risk arises from loans and advances to customers, and other interest bearing assets at variable
rates. The interest rates on loans are generally fixed hence there is no undue exposure to cash flow interest rate risk.
5.3

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unable to meet its obligations when they fall due as a result of customer
deposits being withdrawn, cash requirements from contractual commitments, or other cash outflows, such as debt
maturities or margin calls for derivatives. Such outflows would deplete available cash resources for client lending,
trading activities and investments. In extreme circumstances, lack of liquidity could result in reductions in the
statement of financial position and sales of assets, or potentially an inability to fulfil lending commitments. The risk
that the bank will be unable to do so is inherent in all banking operations and can be affected by a range of
institution-specific and market-wide events including, but not limited to, credit events, merger and acquisition
activity, systemic shocks and natural disasters.
5.3.1 Liquidity risk management process
The Bank’s liquidity management process is carried out by the Bank’s Board of Directors and Executive
Management Team. Oversight includes the following:





Day-to-day funding, managed by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that requirements can be met. This
includes replenishment of funds as they mature or are borrowed by customers;
Maintaining the liquidity ratios of the statement of financial position against internal and regulatory
requirements;
Monitoring the liquidity ratios of the statement of financial position against internal and regulatory
requirements; and
Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities.

Monitoring and reporting take the form of cash flow measurement, and projections for the next day, week and
month respectively, as these are key periods for liquidity management. The starting point for these projections is an
analysis of the contractual maturity of the financial liabilities and the expected collection date of the financial assets.
The ALCO Committee also monitors unmatched medium term assets, the level and type of undrawn lending
commitments, the usage of overdraft facilities and the impact of contingent liabilities such as standby letters of credit
and guarantees.
5.3.2. Funding approach
Sources of liquidity are regularly reviewed by management and the Board of Directors in order to maintain a wide
diversification by currency, geography, provider, product and term.
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Non derivative financial liabilities and assets held for managing liquidity risk

393,019,681
148,626
28,185,614
421,353,921
181,641,546

Customers' deposits
Borrowings
Other liabilities and accrued expenses

Total financial liabilities (contractual maturity
dates)

Assets held for managing liquidity risk
(contractual maturity dates)

As of September 30, 2016

Under 1
month
$

41,991,836

68,298,966

68,001,713
297,253
−

1-3
months
$

127,275,136

205,257,918

204,650,172
607,746
−

3-12
months
$

273,640,648

3,718,209

3,718,209
−
−

1-5
years
$

757,049,551

1,225,661

1,225,661
−
−

Over 5
years
$

1,381,598,717

699,854,675

670,615,436
1,053,625
28,185,614

Total
$

The Bank does not anticipate any shortfalls during the next 12 months since its customers generally roll-over their term deposits at maturity and no major
withdrawals are anticipated for customer demand and savings accounts. Also, refer to the liquidity risk management process in note 5.3.1.

The table below presents the cash flows payable by the Bank under non-derivative financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities at the date of the
statement of financial position. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, whereas the Bank manages the inherent
liquidity risk based on expected undiscounted cash flows.
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177,892,162
148,626
5,267,568
183,308,356
72,046,058

Customers' deposits
Borrowings
Other liabilities and accrued expenses

Total financial liabilities (contractual maturity
dates)

Assets held for managing liquidity risk
(contractual maturity dates)
30,183,981

46,078,554

45,781,301
297,253
−

95,830,383

166,205,897

164,868,260
1,337,637
−

21,391,405

20,337,780
1,053,625
−

1-5
years
$

126,204,466

Non derivative financial liabilities and assets held for managing liquidity risk…continued
Under 1
1-3
3-12
month
months
months
$
$
$
As of September 30, 2015

5.3.3
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372,289,987

868,560

868,560
−
−

Over 5
years
$

696,554,875

417,852,772

409,748,063
2,837,141
5,267,568

Total
$

Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
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Financial instruments risk ... continued
5.3.4 Assets held for managing liquidity risk
The Bank holds a diversified portfolio of cash and high-quality financial assets to support payment obligations
and contingent funding in a stressed market environment. The Bank’s assets held for managing liquidity risk
comprise of the following:
 Unrestricted cash and balances due from banks;
 Loans and receivables investment securities; and
 Unimpaired loans and advances.
5.3.5

Off balance sheet items

(a) Credit commitments
The dates of the contractual amounts of the Bank’s off-balance sheet financial instruments that commit to
extend credit to customers and other facilities are summarised in the table below.
(b) Financial guarantees
The Bank’s financial guarantees are also included in the table below based on the earliest contractual maturity
date.
Up to
1 year
$

1 to 5 years
$

Total
$

6,103,000
33,705,326

−
−

6,103,000
33,705,326

39,808,326

−

39,808,326

6,224,500
21,845,434

–
–

6,224,500
21,845,434

28,069,934

–

28,069,934

(c) Operating Lease Commitments
As of September 30, 2016

Up to
1 year
$

1 to 5 years
$

Total
$

391,224

91,344

482,568

As of September 30, 2015

160,824

254,868

415,692

As of September 30, 2016
Financial guarantees
Credit commitments

As of September 30, 2015
Financial guarantees
Credit commitments

(d) Capital commitments
The Bank had no contractual capital commitments as of September 30, 2016.
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Customers' deposits
Borrowings
Other liabilities and accrued expenses

Financial liabilities

Due from other banks and financial institutions
Investment securities:
– Held-to-maturity investments
– Loans and receivables
Loans and advances to customers
Other financial assets

Financial assets

698,688,852

413,731,865
696,946,172

729,836,600

669,477,529
1,025,709
28,185,614

438,014,637

653,675,511

−
108,298,977
573,245,563
329,309

405,808,591
2,655,706
5,267,568

1,012,450
105,059,808
318,197,622
446,245

−
108,298,977
497,084,474
329,309

47,962,751

2016
$

13,298,512

2015
$

414,523,377

406,600,103
2,655,706
5,267,568

443,415,887

1,012,450
105,059,808
323,598,872
446,245

Fair Value

667,734,849
1,025,709
28,185,614

13,298,512

2015
$

47,962,751

2016
$

Carrying Value

The table below summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities not presented on the statement of financial
position at their fair values.

(a) Financial instruments not measured at fair value.

5.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

Financial instruments risk... continued
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Financial instruments risk ... continued
5.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities ... continued
(a)

Financial instruments not measured at fair value ... continued

(i) Due from banks and other financial institutions
Amounts due from banks and other financial institutions include inter-bank placements and items in the course
of collection. The carrying amount of floating rate placements and overnight deposits is a reasonable
approximation of fair value. The estimated fair value of fixed interest bearing deposits is based on discounted
cash flows using prevailing money-market interest rates for debts with similar credit risk and remaining maturity.
(ii) Loans and advances to customers
The estimated fair value of loans and advances to customers represents the discounted amount of estimated
future cash flows expected to be received. Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rates to
determine fair value.
(iii) Investment securities
The fair value for loans and receivables and held-to-maturity assets is based on market prices or broker/dealer
price quotations. Where this information is not available, fair value is estimated for the debt investment securities
based on discounted cash flows using prevailing market interest rates for debts with similar credit risk and
remaining maturity.
(iv) Deposits from banks and due to customers and other borrowings
The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which includes non-interest bearing deposits, is the
amount repayable on demand. The estimated fair value of fixed interest-bearing deposits not quoted in an active
market is based on discounted cash flows using interest rates for new deposits with similar remaining maturity.
5.4.1 Fair value measurement
Fair value measurement of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value in the statement of financial position are grouped
into three Levels of a fair value hierarchy. The three Levels are defined based on the observability of significant
inputs to the measurement, as follows:
 Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. This level includes debt
instruments listed on exchanges.
 Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly.
 Level 3: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. This level includes equity investments and debt
instruments with significant unobservable components.
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Financial instruments risk ... continued
5.4.2 Assets and liabilities measured at fair value
As of September 30, 2016
Level 2
$

Level 3
$

Total
$

Investment securities:
– Available-for-sale investments – quoted

17,919,211

16,152,131

34,071,342

Total assets

17,919,211

16,152,131

34,071,342

Financial assets

As of September 30, 2015

Level 3
$

Total
$

Investment securities:
– Available-for-sale investments – quoted

14,284,443

14,284,443

Total assets

14,284,443

14,284,443

Financial assets

Reconciliation of level 3 items
The following table presents changes in level 3 instruments for the year ended September 30, 2016.

Balance as of September 30, 2015
Additions
Settlements

Available-forsale financial
assets
Debt
securities
$
14,284,443
4,044,900
(2,177,212)

Balance as of September 30, 2016

16,152,131

If the market interest rate on the available-for-sale bond investment were to change by +/- 10%, the impact on
other comprehensive income would be an increase of $203,190 or a decrease of $153,515.
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Financial instruments risk ... continued
5.4.2 Assets and liabilities measured at fair value … continued
The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments for the year ended September 30, 2015.

Balance as of September 30, 2014
Additions
Settlements

Available-forsale financial
assets
Debt
securities
$
11,811,793
4,000,000
(1,527,350)

Balance as of September 30, 2015

14,284,443

5.4.3 Measurement of fair value of financial instruments
The Bank’s finance team performs valuations of financial items for financial reporting purposes, including Level
3 fair values. Valuation techniques are selected based on the characteristics of each instrument, with the overall
objective of maximising the use of market-based information. The finance team reports directly to the chief
financial officer (CFO) and to the ALCO committee. Valuation processes and fair value changes are discussed
among the audit committee and the valuation team annually, in line with the Bank’s reporting dates.
The valuation techniques used for instruments categorised in Level 3 is described below:
Available-for-sale investments – Government securities (quoted) (Level 3)
The fair value is estimated based on discounted cash flows using prevailing interest rates for debts with similar
credit risk and remaining maturity.

6

Capital management policies and procedures
The Bank’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than ‘equity’ on the face of the
statement of financial position, are:
 To comply with the capital requirements set by the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank (the ECCB);
 To safeguard the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and
 To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.
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Capital management policies and procedures … continued
Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored quarterly by the Bank’s management employing
techniques based on the guidelines developed by the Basel Committee and the European Community Directives,
as implemented by the ECCB, for supervisory purposes. The required information is filed with the ECCB on a
quarterly basis.
The ECCB requires all banks under its supervision to: (a) hold the minimum level of regulatory capital of
$25,000,000 and (b) maintain a ratio of total regulatory capital to the risk-weighted assets (‘the Basel ratio’) at or
above the internationally agreed minimum of 8%.
The Bank’s regulatory capital as managed by senior management is divided into two tiers:


Tier 1 capital: share capital (net of any book values of treasury share), general bank reserves, statutory reserve,
retained earnings and reserves created by appropriations of retained earnings.



Tier 2 capital: qualifying subordinated loan capital, collective impairment allowances and unrealised gains
arising on the fair valuation of securities held as available-for-sale.

The risk weighted assets are measured by means of a hierarchy of five risk weights classified according to the nature
of the asset and reflecting an estimate of credit, market and other risks associated with each asset and counterparty,
taking into account any eligible collateral or guarantees. A similar treatment is adopted for off-balance sheet
exposure, with some adjustments to reflect the more contingent nature of the potential losses.
The following table summarises the composition of the regulatory capital and the ratios of the Bank as of
September 30, 2016. At this date the Bank complied with all the externally imposed capital requirements to which
it is subject.
2016
$
Tier 1 capital
Common share capital
Preference share capital
Retained earnings
Reserve for loan loss impairment
Reserve for interest on non-performing loans
Statutory reserve
Customer lists intangible asset

24,000,000
47,869,339
23,197,198
387,644
2,928,508
7,177,481
(923,184)

Total qualifying Tier 1 capital
Tier 2 capital
Unrealised gain on available for sale investments
General loan loss provisions
Total qualifying Tier 2 capital
Total regulatory capital
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2015
$
24,000,000
47,869,339
13,148,279
141,577
3,566,925
4,763,339
(1,107,820)

104,636,986

92,381,639

536,648
794,371

−
633,389

1,331,019

633,389

105,968,005

93,015,028

Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited
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Capital management policies and procedures … continued
2016
$

2015
$

On-balance sheet
Off-balance sheet

221,860,083
6,741,065

162,383,400
4,369,200

Total risk weighted assets

228,601,148

166,752,600

47%

56%

Risk weighted assets

Basel ratio

7

Significant management judgement in applying accounting policies and estimation
uncertainty
When preparing the financial statements, management makes a number of judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
Estimation uncertainty
Information about estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on recognition and
measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses is provided below. Actual results may be substantially
different.
Impairment losses on loans and advances
The Bank reviews its loan portfolios to assess impairment at least on a quarterly basis for the regulatory
prudential reporting purposes and annually in preparing its IFRS financial statements. In determining whether an
impairment loss should be recorded in the statement of comprehensive income, the Bank makes judgements as
to whether there is any observable data indicating an impairment trigger followed by a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the decrease can be identified in that portfolio. This
evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment status of
borrowers in a group, or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the Bank.
Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics and
objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows. The
methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed
regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience. Were the net present value
of estimated cash flows to differ by -/+ 10% the impairment loss would be an estimated $1,658, 406 higher or
$308,988 lower. Were the discount period used in calculation of the present value of the future cash flows to
differ by +/- 1 year, the impairment loss would be an estimated $993,826 higher or $555,858 lower.

73

Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2016

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

8

Cash and balances with the Central Bank
Note
Cash on hand
Balances with ECCB other than mandatory reserves
Included in cash and cash equivalents
Mandatory deposits with the ECCB

25

Total cash and balances with the Central Bank

2016
$

2015
$

10,940,743
50,237,827

6,043,413
11,986,620

61,178,570
33,258,643

18,030,033
16,832,328

94,437,213

34,862,361

Mandatory deposits with the Central Bank
1) Commercial banks in the Eastern Caribbean Currency Union are required to maintain a non-interest bearing
reserve with the ECCB equivalent to a minimum 6% of their total deposit liabilities (excluding inter-bank
deposits and foreign currencies). This reserve deposit is not available for use in the Bank’s day-to-day
operations. The minimum reserve requirement at the end of the reporting period was $27,758,643 (2015:
$16,832,328).
2) All commercial banks in the Eastern Caribbean Currency Union are required to have a 3-day average daily
gross Automated Clearing House (ACH) collateral amount with the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank. The
cash collateral amount held with the ECCB at the end of the reporting period amounted to $5,500,000
(2015: $nil) and is included in the mandatory deposits with the Central Bank.

9

Due from banks and other financial institutions
Note
Operating accounts with other banks
Items in the course of collection from other banks
Included in cash and cash equivalents
Restricted deposits

25

Total due from banks and other financial institutions

2016
$

2015
$

38,477,716
2,614,897

12,757,165
419,833

41,092,613
6,870,138

13,176,998
121,514

47,962,751

13,298,512

Operating accounts with other banks and financial institutions represent ordinary cash deposits made with other
banks.
Balances held with shareholder banks as of September 30, 2016 amounted to $6,018,169 (2015: $539,676).
The restricted deposits are used as collateral for the credit card operations and letters of credit existing at the year
end.
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Investment securities
Loans and receivables investment securities
Note

Treasury bills
Treasury bills at amortized cost –
OECS Governments with original
maturities of three (3) months or
less and interest rates ranging from
1.99% to 8.0% (2015: (1.5% to
8.0%)
Included in cash and cash
equivalents
Treasury bills at amortized cost OECS Governments with original
maturities greater than three (3)
months and interest rates ranging
from 4.76% to 5.0% (2015: (1.5%
to 5%)

25

Nominal
value
2016
$

Cost
2016
$

Nominal
value
2015
$

Cost
2015
$

20,604,500

20,397,742

17,869,500

17,571,977

20,604,500

20,397,742

17,869,500

17,571,977

7,942,000

7,799,143

11,942,000

11,822,441

−

305,750

−

392,750

28,546,500

28,502,635

29,811,500

29,787,168

Interest receivable
Total treasury bills

Included in the treasury bills are amounts held with a shareholder, the Government of Antigua and Barbuda,
totalling $10,338,918 (2015: $10,541,313).
Interest income earned from treasury bills held with the Government of Antigua and Barbuda amounted to
$290,864 (2015: $591,586).
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10 Investment securities … continued
Loans and receivables investment securities … continued
2016
$

2015
$

8,460,929

8,343,868

4,360,113

4,151,765

12,821,042

12,495,633

Term deposits with other OECS banks and financial
institutions with original maturities greater than three (3)
months up to one year at interest rates ranging from 1.75% to
2.5% per annum.

38,540,144

36,651,160

Restricted term deposits with Bank of America with original
maturities of one year at interest rates of 0.28% to 0.31% per
annum.

5,913,000

5,913,000

Term deposits with ACB Mortgage and Trust Company
Limited (of which $852,000 is restricted) with original maturities
of eighteen (18) months maturing between March 2017 and
December 2017 at interest rates ranging between 2% to 2.5%.

1,748,000

−

Restricted term deposits with Caribbean Credit Card
Corporation with an original maturity of one year at an interest
rate of 2.5% per annum.

500,000

500,000

Interest receivable

357,966

464,140

59,880,152

56,023,933

510,707

−

2,008,078

2,008,078

5,400,000

5,400,000

96,282

58,327

8,015,067

7,466,405

Term Deposits
St. Kitts Nevis Anguilla National Bank, with original maturities
of three (3) months or less at interest rates ranging from 1% to
2% per annum.

Note

Bank of St. Vincent & the Grenadines, maturing on October
25, 2016 with an interest rate of 2.25% per annum.
Included in cash and cash equivalents

25

Fixed rate notes
Antigua Pier Group
- Maturing on September 30, 2025 with an interest rate of
9.0% per annum.
Government of Saint Lucia:
- Maturing on March 16, 2017 with an interest rate of 5.5%
per annum.
-

Maturing on July 18, 2017 with an interest rate of 5.0% per
annum.

Interest receivable
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10 Investment securities … continued
Loans and receivables investment securities … continued
Included in the term deposits are amounts held with related parties totalling $52,165,613 (2015: $49,146,794).
Interest income earned during the year on term deposits held with related parties amounted to $1,169,069
(2015: $1,296,080).
Restricted term deposits
The restricted deposits held with Bank of America and Caribbean Credit Card Corporation are used as
collateral for letters of credit existing at year and the credit card operations.
The restricted deposits held with ACB Mortgage and Trust are securing the deposits placed by the staff
pension fund of the Antigua Commercial Bank.
2016
2015
$
$
Fixed income paper
First Citizens Investment Services Limited with original
maturities greater than three (3) months maturing between
April 26, 2017 to July 14, 2017 at an interest rate of 2.50%.

11,802,493

11,699,463

98,650

82,839

11,901,143

11,782,302

Total loans and receivables investment securities

108,298,997

105,059,808

Total principal
Interest receivable

107,440,348
858,649

104,061,752
998,056

108,298,997

105,059,808

107,208,998
1,089,999

103,051,730
2,008,078

108,298,997

105,059,808

Interest receivable

Current portion
Non-current portion

Available-for-sale investment securities
Available-for-sale – unquoted
Eastern Caribbean Securities Exchange Limited
2,500 Class ‘C’ shares (2,500 shares at cost of $10 each)

227,100

25,000

Caribbean Credit Card Corporation
(50 Shares at cost of $1,000 per share)

426,008

−

Eastern Caribbean Home Mortgage Bank
622 shares with market value of $160 per share

420,371

80,860

1,073,479

105,860

Available-for-sale equity investments (unquoted)
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10 Investment securities … continued
Available-for-sale - quoted
Debt investments
OECS Government bonds with original maturities ranging from two
(2) to ten (10) years at interest rates ranging from 4.95% to 7.5%

2016
$

2015
$

13,652,131

13,784,443

Eastern Caribbean Home Mortgage Bank bonds with maturing on
June 1, 2017 at an interest rate of 2.00%

2,000,000

−

Eastern Caribbean Home Mortgage Bank bonds maturing on January
30, 2017 at an interest rate of 3.75%

500,000

500,000

Interest receivable

290,049

238,252

16,442,180

14,522,695

15,583,697
1,529,332
806,182

−
−
−

17,919,211

−

Total available–for–sale investments (quoted)

34,361,391

14,522,695

Total available-for-sale investment securities

35,434,870

14,628,555

Held-to-maturity investments
Government of Antigua and Barbuda Bonds, matured on July 28, 2016
with an interest rate of 7.5%

−

1,000,000

Interest receivable

−

12,450

Total held to maturity investment securities

−

1,012,450

Summary of investment securities
Total principal
Total interest receivable

142,585,169
1,148,698

119,452,055
1,248,758

Total investment securities

143,733,867

120,700,813

Current
Non-current

111,422,915
32,310,952

104,947,602
15,753,211

Total investment securities

143,733,867

120,700,813

Equity investments
Visa International
St Kitts Nevis Anguilla National Bank
MasterCard International

St. Kitts Nevis Anguilla National Bank is a related party and shareholder of the Bank.
Included in the held to maturity investments are amounts held with a shareholder, the Government of Antigua
and Barbuda, totalling $nil (2015: $1,000,000).
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Balance as of September 30, 2016

Opening balance as of September 30,
2015
Purchase of investments
Acquisition of investments from business
combination
Disposal of investments
Gains from changes in fair value
(Decrease)/increase in interest receivable,
net

Balance as of September 30, 2015

Opening balance as of September 30,
2014
Purchase of investments
Disposal of investments
(Decrease)/increase in interest receivable,
net

21

23

Notes

1,073,479

−

876,468
−
91,151

105,860
−

108,298,997

(12,450)
−

51,798
34,361,391

(139,408)

−
(1,000,000)
−

3,461,608
(32,246,475)
−

105,059,808
32,163,464
17,339,730
(2,177,212)
624,380

14,522,695
4,000,000

1,012,450
−

105,059,808
14,522,695

1,012,450

105,860

201,301

(12,950)

(1,898)

–

103,673,324
55,900,408
(54,715,225)

Loans and
receivables
$
2,025,400
–
(1,000,000)

Held-tomaturity
$

12,051,943
4,000,000
(1,527,350)

Availablefor-sale(quoted)
$

105,860
–
–

Availablefor-sale(unquoted)
$

The movement in investment securities is summarised as follows:

143,733,867

(100,060)

21,677,806
(35,423,687)
715,531

120,700,813
36,163,464

120,700,813

186,453

117,856,527
59,900,408
(57,242,575)

Total
$

Restricted investments
Included in the OECS Government bonds are bonds issued by the Government of Dominica totaling $5 million (2015: $5,000,000) that have been pledged as
collateral for the Eastern Caribbean Automated Clearing House facility.

Included in the available-for-sale OECS Government Bonds is a bond held with the Government of Antigua and Barbuda of $1,000,000 (2015: $nil). Interest
income earned from bonds held with the Government of Antigua and Barbuda amounted to $134,625 (2015: $118,300).
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Loans and advances to customers
2016
$

2015
$

Demand loans
Mortgage loans
Non-performing loans and advances
Overdrafts
Credit card advances

328,543,090
118,488,182
29,567,640
11,260,031
8,296,635

206,699,932
78,114,545
24,927,424
3,626,060
3,682,072

Deferred loan origination fees
Interest receivable
Less: Provision for losses on loans and advances

496,155,578
(423,976)
5,348,193
(3,995,321)

317,050,033
(386,758)
5,302,349
(3,768,002)

Total loans and advances to customers

497,084,474

318,197,622

Current
Non-current

36,376,666
460,707,808

26,915,019
291,282,603

497,084,474

318,197,622

2016
$

2015
$

Balance at beginning of year
Provision for loan impairment
Loans written-off during the year as uncollectible

3,768,002
1,019,661
(792,342)

3,506,169
412,513
(150,680)

Balance at end of year

3,995,321

3,768,002

Roll forward of allowance for losses on loans and advances

According to the ECCB loan provisioning guidelines, the calculated allowance for loan impairment amounts to
$4,382,965 (2015: $3,909,579) and the difference of $387,644 (2015: $141,577) between this figure and the
provision for loan impairment calculated under IAS 39 has been set aside as a specific reserve in equity, see note
21.
According to the ECCB prudential guidelines, interest income is not accrued for loans that are non-performing.
The accrued interest of $2,928,508 (2015: $3,566,925) on non-performing loans has been set aside as a specific
reserve in equity, (see note 21).
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12 Other assets
2016
$

2015
$

347,129
(17,820)

464,065
(17,820)

329,309

446,245

973,324
333,485

694,980
93,475

1,306,809

788,455

Total other assets

1,636,118

1,234,700

Current

1,636,118

1,234,700

Financial assets

Trade receivables
Provision for doubtful debts

Non-financial assets
Prepayments
Prepaid purchases

81

82
51,740
51,740
−
51,740

Net book amount

At September 30, 2015
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

Net book amount

23

51,740
−
−

Year ended September 30, 2015
Opening net book amount at
October 1, 2014
Additions
Depreciation charge

51,740

−
−
−

51,740
−
−

51,740

Net book amount

Year ended September 30, 2016
Opening net book amount at
October 1, 2015
Additions
Disposals
Assets acquired in business
combination
Depreciation write back
Depreciation charge

4,769,200
−

51,740
−

At September 30, 2014
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

5,914,200

1,145,000
−
−

4,769,200
−
−

4,769,200

4,769,200
−

4,769,200

4,769,200
−
−

4,769,200

Land
$

Notes
Artwork
$

13 Property, plant and equipment

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
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Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited

9,562,878

−
−
(246,819)

9,809,697
−
−

9,809,697

10,800,488
(990,791)

9,809,697

10,056,516
−
(246,819)

10,056,516

10,800,488
(743,972)

Buildings
$

1,070,160

356,414
−
(257,113)

786,262
184,597
−

786,262

1,590,629
(804,367)

786,262

830,786
178,162
(222,686)

830,786

1,412,467
(581,681)

Furniture,
fixtures &
equipment
$

1,926,758

648,203
−
(784,291)

1,769,817
293,029
−

1,769,817

5,080,403
(3,310,586)

1,769,817

2,101,256
531,849
(863,288)

2,101,256

4,548,554
(2,447,298)

Computer
equipment
$

367,258

70,029
255,000
(86,418)

−
383,647
(255,000)

−

255,000
(255,000)

−

51,708
−
(51,708)

51,708

255,000
(203,292)

Motor
vehicles
$

18,892,994

2,219,646
255,000
(1,374,641)

17,186,716
861,273
(255,000)

17,186,716

22,547,460
(5,360,744)

17,186,716

17,861,206
710,011
(1,384,501)

17,861,206

21,837,449
(3,976,243)

Total
$

83

51,740
−
51,740

Net book amount

Artwork
$

At September 30, 2016
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Notes
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5,914,200

5,914,200
−

Land
$

Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited

9,562,878

10,800,488
(1,237,610)

Buildings
$

1,070,160

2,131,640
(1,061,480)

Furniture,
fixtures &
equipment
$

1,926,758

6,021,635
(4,094,877)

Computer
equipment
$

367,258

453,676
(86,418)

Motor
vehicles
$

18,892,994

25,373,379
(6,480,385)

Total
$

Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2016

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
14 Financial assets and liabilities
Categories of financial assets and financial liabilities
Note 4.3 provides a description of each category of financial assets and financial liabilities and the related accounting
policies. The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities in each category are as follows:
Notes
As of September 30, 2016
Financial assets
Loans and advances to customers
Investment securities
Other financial assets
Due from banks and other financial institutions

11
10
12
9

Financial liabilities
Customers’ deposits
Borrowings
Other liabilities and accrued expenses

16
18
17

Available
for sale
$

$

Loans and
receivables
$

Total
$

−
35,434,870
−
−

−
−
−
−

497,084,474
108,298,997
329,309
47,962,751

497,084,474
143,733,867
329,309
47,962,751

35,434,870

−

653,675,531

689,110,401

Other
Liabilities
(carried at
Amortised
cost)
$

Total
$

Loans and
Held to
Maturity Receivables
$
$

Total
$

Held to
maturity

667,734,849 667,734,849
1,025,709
1,025,709
28,185,614 28,185,614
696,946,172 696,946,172

Notes
As of September 30, 2015
Financial assets
Loans and advances to customers
Investment securities
Other financial assets
Due from banks and other financial institutions

Available
for Sale
$

11
−
10 14,628,555
12
−
9
−

−
1,012,450
−
−

318,197,622
105,059,808
446,245
13,298,512

318,197,622
120,700,813
446,245
13,298,512

14,628,555

1,012,450

437,002,187

452,643,192
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14 Financial assets and liabilities … continued

Note

Financial liabilities
Customers’ deposits
Borrowings
Other liabilities and accrued expenses

16
18
17

Other
Liabilities
(carried at
Amortised
cost)
$

Total
$

405,808,591
2,655,706
5,267,568

405,808,591
2,655,706
5,267,568

413,731,865

413,731,865

A description of the Banks’s financial instrument risks, including risk management objectives and policies is given in
note 5.
The methods used to measure financial assets and liabilities reported at fair value are described in note 5.

15 Intangible assets
Notes
At September 30, 2014
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Computer
software
$

Customer
lists
$

Total
$

3,746,080
(2,628,032)

2,031,000
(738,544)

5,777,080
(3,366,576)

Net book amount

1,118,048

1,292,456

2,410,504

Year ended September 30, 2015
Net book value at October 1, 2015
Additions
Amortisation charge

1,118,048
324,863
(810,131)

1,292,456
−
(184,636)

2,410,504
324,863
(994,767)

632,780

1,107,820

1,740,600

4,070,943
(3,438,163)

2,031,000
(923,180)

6,101,943
(4,361,343)

Net book amount

632,780

1,107,820

1,740,600

Year ended September 30, 2016
Net book value at October 1, 2016
Additions
Assets acquired in business combination
Amortisation charge

632,780
709,089
136,275
(370,606)

1,107,820
−
−
(184,636)

1,740,600
709,089
136,275
(555,242)

923,184

2,030,722

Net book amount
At September 30, 2015
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

23

1,107,538

Net book amount
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15 Intangible assets … continued

Customer
lists
$

Computer
software
$

At September 30, 2016
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

4,916,307
(3,808,769)
1,107,538

Net book amount

16 Customers’ deposits

2,031,000
(1,107,816)
923,184

Total
$
6,947,307
(4,916,585)
2,030,722

2016
$

2015
$

312,215,174
209,489,410
142,426,711

242,244,193
104,309,322
55,362,071

664,131,295

401,915,586

3,603,554

3,893,005

Total customers' deposits

667,734,849

405,808,591

Current
Non-current

663,148,526
4,586,323

385,552,159
20,256,432

667,734,849

405,808,591

Time deposits
Savings accounts
Current accounts

Interest payable

Included in the customers’ deposits at year end are deposits from related parties amounting to $33,873,412 (2015:
$27,015,465) as disclosed in note 24.
Included in the customers’ deposits at year end are deposits from other financial institutions, excluding shareholder
banks, amounting to $46,736,852 (2015: $42,008,360).
Deposits held as collateral for loans and advances amounted to $11,156,589 (2015: $6,750,291).
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17

Other liabilities and accrued expenses
2016
$

2015
$

Trade payables and accrued expenses
Manager’s cheques
Due to Receiver of ABI Bank Ltd
Transfers payable
Other payables

3,842,631
8,417,671
14,085,312
1,215,556
624,444

2,064,625
1,901,848
−
616,139
684,956

Total other liabilities and accrued expenses

28,185,614

5,267,568

Current

28,185,614

5,267,568

2016
$

2015
$

Consortium loan payable over ten (10) years in blended monthly
instalments of $148,627 commencing on March 8, 2012 with final
payment of principal due at the end of the 120th month together with
all outstanding interest. Interest is charged at 8% per annum.

1,025,709

2,655,706

Current portion of loan

1,025,709

1,629,964

−

1,025,742

1,025,709

2,655,706

18 Borrowings

Non-current portion of loan
Total borrowings

On January 19, 2012, the Bank purchased the commercial property at 1000 Airport Boulevard, Coolidge, St. John’s,
Antigua, for $12,250,000. This purchase was financed by a consortium loan from the shareholders excluding the
Government of Antigua and Barbuda.
The loan is secured as follows:



Registered charge over commercial property at Coolidge stamped to cover $12,250,000.
Fire and other perils policy with risks assigned to the lending shareholder banks on a pari-passu basis over the
commercial property at Coolidge for $11,106,700.

The Bank’s Board of Directors approved a lump sum payment of EC$5,000,000 which was paid in January 2015.
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19 Share capital
Note

2016
$

2015
$

−
−

−
−

24,000,000

24,000,000

47,869,339

47,869,339

Authorised share capital:
710,000 common shares at no par value
100,000 preference shares at no par value
Issued and fully paid:
240,000 common shares issued at $100 each
20

100,000 preference shares issued at $478.69 each

20 Preference shares
The subscriptions for preference shares were made by the Government of Antigua and Barbuda. According to the
shareholders agreement, the preference shares are convertible, redeemable and non-cumulative. The rights,
privileges, restrictions and conditions for the preference shares outlined in the shareholders’ agreement are as
follows:


Preference shareholders are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Board and in the priority
of disbursements and distributions as set forth in the by-laws paid out of the net profits of the Bank at 3.5% of
par value.



Upon any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Bank, the preference shares will rank highest in priority
of all share holdings.



Preference shares are redeemable at the discretion of the Bank.



Preference shares are classified as equity in the statement of financial position.
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21 Reserves
a) Other reserves

Regulatory reserve for loan impairment
Regulatory reserve for interest on non-performing loans
Statutory reserve
Total other reserves

2016
$

2015
$

387,644
2,928,508
7,177,481

141,577
3,566,925
4,763,339

10,493,633

8,471,841

(a) Reserve for loan impairment
This reserve is created to set aside the amount by which the loan loss provision calculated under the Prudential
Guidelines of the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank exceeds the loan loss provision calculated in accordance with
IAS 39. The excess is therefore set aside in a reserve and is not available for distribution to the shareholders.
(b) Reserve for interest on non-performing loans
This reserve is created to set aside interest accrued on non-performing loans where certain conditions are met in
accordance with International Accounting Standard (IAS) 39. The Prudential Guidelines of the Eastern
Caribbean Central Bank, however do not allow for the accrual of such interest. The interest is therefore set
aside in a reserve and is not available for distribution to the shareholders.
(c) Statutory Reserve
Under the Banking Act 2015, at least 20% of the net income of each year should be transferred to a reserve
fund, if the amount of such reserve is less than 100% of the paid up capital.
b) Revaluation reserve
The revaluation reserve represents the unrealised net gains on available-for-sale investment securities, net of tax.
The movements in the reserve during the year are as follows:
Notes
2016
2015
Balance, beginning of year
Unrealised gains on investment securities
Income tax on remeasurement of investment
securities

10

Balance, end of year

89

$

$

−
715,531

−
−

(178,883)

−

536,648

−
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22 Commitments
a)

Credit commitments and others

Financial guarantees
Undrawn Commitments – Loans and overdrafts
Undrawn Commitments – Credits cards

b)

Operating lease commitments

2016
$

2015
$

6,103,000
20,874,285
12,831,041

6,224,500
15,952,537
5,892,897

39,808,326

28,069,934

Within 1
Year
$

1 to 5 years
$

After 5 years
$

Total
$

September 30, 2016

391,224

91,344

−

482,568

September 30, 2015

160,824

254,868

−

415,692

Lease expense during the year amounted to EC$1,251,313 (2015: EC$163,687), representing the minimum lease
payments.
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23 Business combination
On November 27, 2015, Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited acquired certain assets of ABI Bank Limited
totalling $265,499,415 and assumed certain liabilities totalling $256,558,020 by way of a Purchase and Assumption
Agreement.
The following table summarises the consideration paid and the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed at the acquisition date.
Total Purchase Consideration at November 27, 2015

Cash consideration payable

November 27
2015
$
8,941,395

Recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at
November 27, 2015
Loans and advances to customers
Cash and balances due from Central Bank
Property, plant and equipment
Due from other banks and financial institutions
Intangible assets
Investment securities

213,539,512
13,719,424
2,219,646
14,206,752
136,275
21,677,806

Total assets

265,499,415

Customer deposits
Borrowings
Other liabilities

234,707,295
19,891,941
1,958,784

Total liabilities

256,558,020

Total identifiable net assets

8,941,395

Goodwill on acquisition

–

Total purchase consideration payable

8,941,395

Cash and cash equivalents in net assets acquired
Purchase consideration payable

27,926,176
(8,941,395)

Cash inflow on acquisition

18,984,781

Acquisition-related costs amounting to $121,066 are not included as part of consideration transferred and have been
recognized as an expense in the statement of comprehensive income as part of general and administrative expenses.
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24 Related parties’ balances and transactions
Interest rate

2016
$

2015
$

8.0 – 9.8%
7.0 – 10%
6.0 – 8.5%

268,578,960
411,917
628,540

171,800,118
190,250
741,027

269,619,417

172,731,395

Loans to Government of Antigua and Barbuda
Loan to directors
Loans to key management personnel

The loans to shareholder and key management personnel are secured by assets including cash and property.
Interest income earned on shareholders’, directors’, and key members of management’s loans and advances during
the year amounted to $22,502,944 (2015: $15,432,292). The average interest rate on these loans is 8.47% (2015:
8.76%.)
Deposits from related parties
Interest rate
0 – 5%
0 – 3.5%
5%
2%

Deposits from shareholders
Deposits from key management personnel
Deposits from staff retirement savings fund
Deposits from directors

2016
$

2015
$

31,694,681
496,897
1,627,720
54,114

25,453,231
412,462
1,133,617
16,155

33,873,412

27,015,465

Interest expense paid on shareholders’, directors’, key members of management’s and the staff retirement savings
fund deposits during the year amounted to $566,290 (2015: $670,705). The average interest rate on these deposits is
1.72% (2015: 2.14%).
Remuneration of key management personnel

Salaries and allowances
Directors’ fees
Social Security and Medical Benefits costs
Other staff costs

2016
$

2015
$

1,664,800
288,361
55,291
15,678

1,519,857
302,568
61,825
15,501

2,024,130

1,899,751

Refer to notes 9 and 10 for details of additional related party balances and transactions.

92

Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2016

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

25 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of the following:
Notes
Term deposits with original maturities of ninety days or less
Due from banks and other financial institutions
Cash and non-mandatory balances with the Central Bank
Treasury bills

10
9
8
10

2016
$

2015
$

12,821,042
41,092,613
61,178,570
20,397,742

12,495,633
13,176,998
18,030,033
17,571,977

135,489,967

61,274,641

26 Interest income and interest expense
2016
$

2015
$

Interest income
Loans and advances
Investment securities
Short term deposits

39,835,432
4,165,013
10,845

26,333,251
4,391,386
5,112

Total interest income

44,011,290

30,729,749

51,208
3,653,924
8,420,341
713,049

65,019
2,138,186
8,098,383
276,211

Total interest expense

12,838,522

10,577,799

Net interest income

31,172,768

20,151,950

Interest expense
Demand accounts
Savings accounts
Fixed deposits
Borrowings

93

Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2016

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

27 Net fee income
2016
$

2015
$

6,525,845
2,047,756
3,230,481
1,778,998
394,064

3,955,303
1,471,589
2,060,148
1,211,584
347,699

13,977,144

9,046,323

Fee expense
Credit card expenses
Bank charges
Other fees – expenses

5,409,096
1,160,118
24,762

3,167,641
476,448
2,071

Total fee expense

6,593,976

3,646,160

Net fee income

7,383,168

5,400,163

2016
$

2015
$

Recovery of loan items written off
Gain on disposal of fixed assets
Recovery of credit card items written-off

202,633
129,000
−

76,439
8,000
718

Total other income

331,633

85,157

2016
$

2015
$

9,964,401
1,373,997
785,510
204,848

7,637,517
1,382,896
609,270
184,716

12,328,756

9,814,399

Fee income
Credit card fees
Other fees and commission
Foreign exchange gain/losses
Service charge – deposits
Credit related fees
Total fee income

28 Other income/expenses

29 Personnel expenses

Salaries and allowances
Other personnel expenses
Statutory contributions
Insurance contributions
Total personnel expenses
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30 General and administrative expenses
2016
$

31

2015
$

Information technology
Rent
Utilities
Professional fees
Printing, stationery and office supplies
Telecommunications and postage
Repairs and maintenance
Other administration costs
Insurance
Marketing and public relations
Directors’ fees
Travel, conferences and meetings
Licenses and taxes

1,339,544
1,251,313
1,151,479
1,133,072
1,007,578
902,881
539,930
491,406
372,670
290,521
288,361
108,287
105,250

1,037,978
163,687
925,099
901,237
684,786
818,439
619,161
28,501
277,924
283,554
302,568
63,920
84,841

Total general and administrative expenses

8,982,292

6,191,695

Income tax
Effective from November 25, 2011, the Bank was granted an exemption from the payment of corporate income tax
for a period of fifteen (15) years. This exemption was withdrawn effective December 31, 2015.
The legislative enacted corporate tax rate for the year is 25% (2015: 25%). However, the effective tax rate is 18.75%
(2015: $nil) as a result of the income tax exemption which ended on December 31, 2015.
2016
$

2015
$

14,626,977

6,839,395

Tax charge at the applicable tax rate of 18.75% (2015: 25%)
Movement in deferred taxes not recognised in prior years
Effect of permanent differences
Effect of change in effective tax rate
Late filing penalty
Effect of income tax exemption

2,742,558
(3,953)
(445,672)
174,693
88,640
−

1,709,849
286,134
(640,038)
−
−
(1,355,945)

Tax charge for the year

2,556,266

−

Represented as follows:
Current income tax expense
Deferred income tax expense

1,861,447
694,819

−
−

2,556,266

−

Tax charge
Net income for the year before taxation
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31 Income tax … continued
Deferred tax (liability)/asset
At the year end, the Bank had a net deferred tax (liability) of $873,702 (2015: asset of $3,953) at the future tax rate of
25%. The Bank previously held an exemption from the payment of income taxes for a period of 15 years from
November 25, 2011, however, this exemption was withdrawn effective December 31, 2015. The net deferred tax
(liability) was recorded at the current year end. The prior year’s net deferred tax asset was not recorded in the
financial statements at the end of 2015 as a result of the tax exemption. The deferred tax liabilities are comprised as
follows:
2016
2015
$
$
Tax losses
Deferred commissions on loans
Regulatory loan loss reserve
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment
Revaluation of available-for-sale investment securities

−
105,994
(829,037)
28,224
(178,883)

780,412
96,690
(927,126)
53,977
−

Total deferred tax liability

(873,702)

3,953

The movements on the deferred tax liability recognised during the year are as follows:

2016
$

2015
$

Balance recorded at beginning of year
Current year charge
Unrealised gains on investment securities in other comprehensive income
Deferred tax asset not recorded in prior year

−
(698,772)
(178,883)
3,953

−
−
−
−

Balance, end of year

(873,702)

−

Tax losses
The Bank has no brought forward losses for tax purposes (2015: $3,121,647), as they were utilized during the year.
The tax losses expired as follows.
2016
$

2015
$

−
−

3,034,293
87,354

−

3,121,647

2017
2018
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32 Employee benefits
Effective from December 1, 2012, the Bank established a defined contribution staff retirement savings plan which is
mandatory for all permanent employees joining the Bank subsequent to that date. Qualifying employees choose to
allocate a percentage of their basic monthly salary to the fund and the Bank matches the employee’s contribution up to
a maximum of 5%. Each employee is entitled to receive 100% of their contribution to the Fund in addition to the
accrued interest earned at the time of terminating the employment relationship with the Bank. Each employee is entitled
to receive a percentage of the Bank’s contribution to the Fund in addition to the accrued interest earned at the time of
terminating the employment relationship as follows:






Less than 3 years - 0%
3 years but less than 5 years - 25%
5 years but less than 7 years - 50%
7 years but less than 10 years - 75%
10 years and over - 100%

An employee is not entitled to the Bank’s contribution if terminated for just cause. An employee whose employment
ceases due to medical reasons of a terminable nature is entitled to 100% of contributions made on their behalf by the
Bank. The trustees of the fund is a committee comprising the General Manager, the Manager of Human Resources and
three employees who are staff nominated, voted and determined by the employees. The retirement savings plan expense
for the year was $221,469 (2015: $201,228).

33 Contingent liabilities
Pending litigation
A legal claim was filed against the Bank in February 2011 by a former employee of Bank of Antigua Limited for $449,813
relating to unpaid pension fund. The Court has provided a judgment on the case that was in favor of the Bank.
However, this has subsequently been appealed by the former employee. No significant loss is expected to arise from
this pending claim; however the outcome of the appeal is currently unknown.

34 Comparatives
The classification of certain items in the financial statements has been changed from the prior period to achieve a clearer
or more appropriate presentation. The comparative figures have been similarly reformatted and reclassified in order to
achieve comparability with the current period.

35 Post reporting date event
Subsequent to the year end on May 19, 2017, the Board of Directors recommended a dividend of $5.50 for each unit
of common share and a dividend of 3.5% of par value for the preferred shareholder.
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An organization's ability
to learn, and translate that
learning into action rapidly,
is the ultimate competitive
advantage.
Jack Welch
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